CHAPTER FOUR — The Sites
The blacks are continually prowling about our stas, for the purpose of plundering
and assassinating our shepherds, and our hut-keepex never safgJohn E. Hobbs,

letter toThe South Australigrdune 8, 1849).

Throughout this chapter the words ‘aperture’ andbeasure’ are frequently used. An
‘aperture’ can be simply defined as a small opewingap in a wall (Johnston, 1976:30).
An ‘embrasure’ is an aperture which has been spatlif designed for discharging a
firearm through. Therefore, ‘aperture’ is hereiredisas an adjective, describing an
architectural feature, whereas ‘embrasure’ is usedescribe the function of such a
feature. They can, of course, be one and the saim&t is, an aperture can be an
embrasure and an embrasure will always be an apeBEmbrasures are more commonly

referred to as ‘loopholes’, and sometimes incolyeas ‘gun slots’ or ‘portholes’.
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Mount Benson (South East South Australia)

Figure 4.1.0. ‘Mount Benson’, now ‘Wangolina’ hometead as it appears today, view of north side.

The Site

The structures investigated here formed part ohtesd station of John Gifford’s Mount

Benson station. It is possible that this homeste®ad known as ‘Tarlaemoor’ (Sutton,

2004: 21), though the evidence is too scanty tdidently refer to it as such. Gifford is

believed to have established Mount Benson statatwden 1846 and 1847 (SRSA, GRG
24/6/1847/585), remaining there until 1854 (Oldt8gss, SA Lands Dept, Memorial No.

246, Bk 68). Gifford’s run was known as the MourgnBon Run, since this eminence
was located roughly in the centre of his propefigday the dwelling is known as

‘Wangolina’. The main feature of the site is theetlimg itself, and it is to this that a
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fortified homestead myth is attached. There are tils remains of two other $@entury

outbuildings close to the dwelling.

The Myth

The myth that Mount Benson was defensively builstfiappears in written form in
Barrowman’s local history bookQld Days and Old Wayspublished in 1971. The
reference occurs in a chapter of the book prinyipabout James Brown’s alleged
massacre of Aborigines. After describing a doohveih embrasure built into it from a

different station (more of which will be said |gteBarrowman writes:

This is not the only building in the area showing\psions for shooting blacks in
the early days. A rifle port-hole is to be foundilbinto the stonework of the
earlier portion of another house in the Kingstostritit. The building was once
the homestead for “Wangolina” Station establishednd) the early days by a

squatter named Gifford (Barrowman, 1971: 52).

It is not known where Barrowman obtained this infation. There are three possible
ways this interpretation of the building’s desigmyrhave originated. The first is that
someone passed the myth on to him in the form adlloral history. The second is that
Barrowman interpreted the small aperture as an asnbe himself, based upon his own
knowledge of defensive architectural techniquese Tird possibility is that someone
else told Barrowman of the aperture’s function,eaaen their own interpretation. The
myth was repeated in Sutton’s 2004 badell| Circle (Sutton, 2004: 25). This was in the

form of the inclusion of an illustration of the hiling, along with a caption mentioning
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the ‘rifle port-hole’, which originally appeared Barrowman (1971: 56) (See Figure

4.1.1).

Sketch showing artist’s impression of Gifford’s Old
Wangolina homestead. The small rifile port-hole is close
to the left-hand side of the right-hand chimney.

Figure 4.1.1. Sketch of Mount Benson dwelling witleriginal caption. From Barrowman, 1971: 56.

Location

The site is located in South Australia’s south eapproximately 257 kilometres south
east of Adelaide and 15.5 kilometres south of gventof Kingston S.E. The dwelling is
still occupied and the property is accessed viaae driveway running easterly off the
main road between Kingston and Robe. The siteisctres stand atop a small hill,

providing a long view over the flat, low plains tiee north and south of the site. The
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building of the homestead on a rise such as thieas to have been common in this

area, as Dunn mentions that the site of the homéditock was usually chosen on the

best land, well supplied with water, but high amg @unn, 1969: 22).
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Figure 4.1.2. Map showing location of the Mount Beson site. Adapted from topographic map
Kingston 6824-11.

The Dwelling

The main feature of this site is the limestone-e@iliwelling. Limestone was prevalent

in the area and many settlers built with it (Duhf@69: 22). Although this structure has
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been found to have undergone extensive alteratvestime, the original configuration
of the building is ascertainable, thanks to ardhivdormation, and some of the
subsequent alterations are visible in the use fiérdnt construction techniques and

materials.

In its current configuration, the dwelling has fiveoms: three in the main section,
arranged in a linear plan and two small extensiomsthe north east and north west
corners. The one on the north-west corner is adiadipathroom made of limestone and
the one on the north east corner is made of wdathed and is currently being used as
storage space (visible in Figure 4.1.0). The twchiaal documentary sources for the
appearance of this structure are an 1864-66 valuatf the property (SRSA, GRG

35/654) and a hand drawn plan of the head statictyding a description, also dated to

1864 (SRSA, GRG 35/653).

Oral history from a current occupant indicates thahe later 28 century the roof level
was raised approximately 30cm by heightening thdsw@irs Hayes, pers. comm.,
19/04/2005). However, this cannot be confidentlpfomed though visual examination.
There is a dividing wall with a doorway in the eastside of the dwelling, creating a
small room which is currently being used as a kitchThere is a verandah along the
dwelling’s northern side. It is unknown when thiasafirst built, though the corrugated
iron sheeting and gutters are modern. The gabledhas also been replaced in the later
20" century (Mrs Hayes, pers. comm. 20/4/2005). Thilglimg is currently roofed with

corrugated iron.
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The building as it stands today is an elongategtetmoomed one. The interior space is
divided into two main sections by a wall which does have a communicating door.
This wall divides the building into a large (westpm (room 1) and a smaller (east) room
(room 2). Both have an open fireplace, althouglt thathe west room is larger. In
addition, there is another dividing wall with a dam the eastern side of the building,
creating a third small room here (room 3). The memt side of the dwelling was
evidently the front, as it is here that all of th@ors and most of the windows are located
(Figure 4.1.0 & Figure 4.1.9). The dwelling is Wulartly into the slope of the hill on
which it stands. This can be clearly seen on theghson side where the ground level is

only approximately 70cm below the window (Figuré.3).

™
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Figure 4.1.3. View of southern side of dwelling, slwing the height of the ground at this point. The
‘embrasure’ can also be seen just to the left of thchimney at right. Photograph taken from atop the
mound which is immediately to the rear of the buildhg.
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According to the myth, what is an embrasure fandgirthrough can be seen at the rear
(i.e. southern side) of the dwelling. This comedha form of a small square aperture
built into the stonework, between the chimney dmalinterior dividing wall in the east
room (room 2). This feature measures approxima28igm by 25cm. A small glass
window has been fitted on the interior, which mayray not be original (Figure 4.1.4).

There is also a relatively small casement windowthes side which is part of the west

room (room 1).

Figure 4.1.4. Close-up of the exterior of the ‘emtasure’ in the Mount Benson dwelling.

Other Structures
There are the remains of two other™€entury structures just west of the dwelling
(Figure 4.1.5). Both are constructed of random leitimestone, which is plentiful in the

region. They are built close together, standing@admately three metres apart.
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Figure 4.1.5. Site plan showing the layout of theemaining 19" century structures at Mount Benson.

The easternmost of these buildings is rectanguigplan, orientated north/south, and
measures 9.5m by 5.2m (Figure 4.1.6). It has aralemall running east/west, which
divides the interior into two approximately squamems. This structure is in a very bad
state of preservation. Most of the western waliti standing to roof height, but of the
rest of the walls, only the bases remain. As altethere is no visible evidence of the
position of any doors or windows in this structuféere is very little rubble where the
walls once stood. A possible explanation for thiaynbe that the stones from this

building were recycled when the walls of the dweglivere heightened.
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Figure 4.1.6. View of the remains of the eastern thwilding at Mount Benson. The remains of the
western outbuilding can be seen to the left. Facingorth-west.

The westernmost outbuilding is rectangular and nbaied approximately north/south
(Figure 4.1.7). It measures 10m by 4.2m. Thereiswndence that this structure ever had
any interior dividing walls. Most of the southeraistill stands to roof height, and in the
centre of this wall, rather high up, is a window.&\ater time, this window was blocked
up on the interior with a combination of plankshbble and mortar, although, the original
wooden window frame and shutters were left in pasitThe remains of the other walls
stand to an average height of approximately 40c¢gh, énough to indicate the position of
a doorway in the centre of the northern wall, ofeothe window, though not high
enough to indicate the position of any other windoWhe remains of a fireplace, and the
mound created by the collapsed rubble of the chymeen be clearly seen on the western

side of the building.
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Figure 4.1.7. View of the western outbuilding at Mant Benson. The blocked up window can be seen
in the upper centre of the wall, as can the rubblgile, evidently from the chimney, at right. The two
large trees in the background are part of the avenel of trees believed to have marked the line of the
old road. Facing south-east.

Other Cultural Modifications of the Landscape

Just to the south of the homestead site, at thteofabe hill on which it stands, there is an
avenue of large trees. These are orientated noutf/spointing towards Mount Benson.
In a personal communication with one of the curaadupants of the dwelling, the latter
pointed out that this avenue marked the line ofdloetrack leading to the station (Mrs
Hayes, pers. comm., 20/4/2005). This is supporeth® run map of 1851 (Figure 4.1.8),
which clearly shows a track leading from the heatian southwards past Mount Benson

and probably leading to Robe.
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Figure 4.1.8. Map of the Mount Benson Run, dated B3. The text in bold has been added for clarity.
Courtesy of the South Australian Lands Department.
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Site History

In April, 1844, an exploratory party including Gaomer Grey, Charles Bonney, Thomas
Burr and George French Angus visited the area whichld later become the Mount
Benson run. The aim of this expedition was to ass®s quality of the land with a view

of opening it up to leaseholders (Sutton, 2004: ©9) the 28 April, 1844, Burr wrote:

We entered into a wood the character of which wake glistinct from that which
we had previously seen; the wattle, gum trees kbhamod etc., grew luxuriantly
and there was a watercourse having a drainage theneastward (PRGS, Vol.

XV Chap.3 para 3 line 7 — T. Burr).

The explorers then came across a deposit of Tafapwnly known as “biscuit” because
of its resemblance to ship’s biscuit. At this pothie party were probably just to the north
of the later site of the homestead, as the run afidi851 shows such an area labelled,

“Little Biscuit Flat” (Figure 4.1.8).

Returning to Burr's account:
Beyond the biscuit plain we came to a fresh wadatrée swamp with a drainage
towards the coast and from this to Mount Benson ¢bantry was gently

undulating and grassy, thickly wooded with casuasgjrbanksias and stringy bark.

From Mount Benson we had an extensive view oveuratulating, grassy and
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thickly wooded country and had a good prospect oicken Bay (PRGS, Vol.

XV Chap.3 para 3 line 7 — T. Burr).

George French Angus also recorded what he obselw@ag this expedition. Of the area

in which the site is located he wrote:

We steered south by compass through another wooehth Mount Benson, - a
round-topped eminence, about seven hundred feseabhe sea, and the highest
of a range of limestone-hills, visible from the dhils at Lacepede Bay. We
ascended the ridges, which were thickly clothechviadinksia and she-oak, but
had some difficulty in finding Mount Benson, owit@the density of the foliage.
The view from the summit was most extensive, and gfeculiar character. It
appeared as though we were looking over a sea oflweith the blue plains
melting away into the invisible distance. To thestweard, we traced the shores of
Guichen bay, with Baudin’s Rocks and a reef beythred bay, against which a

heavy surf was breaking (Angas, 1969[1847]: 150).

These early accounts are relevant because thegilmiesite terrain as it was at the time of
European settlement. At the time Gifford came tauktdBenson (1846-7), the run would
have been mainly covered in trees and other vegetdtven in 1851 this was still the

case, as shown on the Run map of that date (Figure).
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Prior to Gifford, the first occupational leasehokieFrancis Grote and Edward Stirling,
arrived in the Mount Benson area in 1845. Closthé&southern border of the 1851 run
map, next to a swamp, are the words, “old stat{gigjure 4.1.8). This seems most likely
to denote the position of Grote and Stirling'sistat These pioneers were obviously not
happy with conditions, since by 1847 they had l#ftis likely that one of the main
reasons they decided to leave was because of thsta@@l ®isease that plagued stock in
this area (Sutton, 2004: 19). Coastal Disease waset by a deficiency of cobalt and
copper in the herbage. Livestock could only be kept healthy condition along the coast
for four months of the year. After this time thegdhto be disposed of or moved to better
pastures inland. Stirling’s obituary tells us thagreat number of their sheep died on the
Mount Benson run, the remainder having to be brbughLake Alexandrina, where
healthier pasture was available (Vaughan, 1986THg.evidence suggests that Grote and
Stirling stayed on this run for no more than twaurnge probably leaving in 1846 or early
1847. By early 1847, the run was evidently occuggdlohn Gifford, as it was at this
time that Gifford was described as being “of MoBehson” by the Colonial Secretary in

one of his quarterly reports (SRSA, GRG 24/6/188%)5

Comparatively little is known of John Gifford. Ndh@ographs of him are known to
exist, and historical references to him are sddatvever, this paucity of information was
redressed considerably by the publication in 2004wl Circle: A Story of South
Australia’s Unknown Pioneehy Enid Sutton (Sutton, 2004). This book made afss
letters written by Gifford to his sister in Englaradbody of documentary evidence which

had not been drawn upon previously.
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John Gifford was born in the hamlet of Blackford Somerset, UK, in the early 19
century (Sutton, 2004: 6). He was well educatethkystandards of the day, as his ability
to express himself in his letters home testifiestt($, 2004: 6). He left England for
South Australia in September 1839, arriving in @by 1840. Gifford was just 20 years
old when he arrived in the Colony. Soon after @amgy Gifford began working for a Mr
Philcox, whom he had met on the voyage over. Giffarorked on Philcox’s cattle
station, which was at Mount Barker (Sutton, 2004 1t8appears that he used this time to

learn about the pastoral industry in the Colonywel as to save some money.

By September 1844, Gifford had struck out on hisipmanning a cattle station on the
Murray River (Sutton, 2004: 14), although he mayenanoved here as early as 1842
(Sutton, 2004: 14). The exact location of thisistats unknown, however Gifford wrote
that it was 60 miles (96.5 kilometres) from Ade&idnd it has also been described as 3
miles (4.8 kilometres) north of the Wellington seyv(Sutton, 2004: 14-15). This would
place it somewhere between Wellington and TaillemdB&he River Murray evidently

ran through Gifford’s property, since he kept @tth both sides of it (Sutton, 2004: 15).

It was while working on this run that we first hezrGifford employing an Aboriginal
person. This appears to have been common pradicpaistoralists throughout South
Australia’s colonial period (e.g. Giles, 1879-941/21884). In this example, Gifford
mentions that he took a, “...[n]ative from the rivéButton, 2004: 15) with him when he
went exploring on the eastern side of the riverntibm is made of Gifford’s ‘black boys’

in relation to both of his later pastoral propestidount Benson and BlackforA
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Register December 8, 1852 & December %| 1852). The fact that Gifford went
exploring in the immediate vicinity of his run alsbows that at this time he was well and
truly on the frontier of colonial settlement. It uld be interesting to know what his
relations with the local Aboriginal people weredi&t this place, though unfortunately no

information on this subject appears to have sudiive

By early 1847, Gifford had moved to the Mount Bemsoea, the site under investigation
here. While it is not known what prompted him tae his run on the Murray, a possible
clue might be found in an 1846 letter from Giffdodthe Colonial Secretary, regarding

his run on the Murray. He wrote:

Sir,

Having understood that Mr Castles has applieded_émd Office for a Section of
Land to be Surveyed on which my head Station isted | should feel extremely
obliged if you would not allow it to be Surveyed,at all events not at the present
time as it would put me to considerable inconvergeland a great loss not

knowing where to go at present (SRSA, GRG 24/6/1135).

A comment, by an unknown official, attached to Giffs request reads:

Mr Castles’ application is at present before the@dvernor. | know nothing of

Mr Gifford’s statement and can find therefore nanagm upon his request.

[Signature illegible] (Reproduced in Sutton, 2008)
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Gifford was an Occupational License holder. Thisantethat he was issued with a
certificate by the Lands Office which had to beengad on a yearly basis. This made the
position of Occupational License holders quite @se, since they could not be sure
from one year to the next whether they would bevad to stay on the land, or if it
would be given to someone else (Sutton, 2004:G#ford’s letter above tells us that the
land on which his station stood was under thredteirig surveyed, and if this happened,
Gifford would be forced off the land. Consideringetrather dismissive tone of the
comment attached to the letter, and the fact tlyathle next year he was at Mount
Benson, it would appear that Mr Castles’ survey wadeed allowed and Gifford
decided, or was compelled, to go elsewhere. Whenednt was very far from Adelaide,
257 kilometres to be precise. Perhaps Gifford redre secure from the surveyors and
bureaucracy out there, well beyond the relativdbsaly settled areas. As mentioned
previously, Gifford was definitely located at MouB¢nson by early 1847, since it was at
this time that he was mentioned in a letter to @wonial Secretary (SRSA, GRG

24/6/1847/585), so it may be inferred that he adithere in late 1846.

Unfortunately, no letters sent by Gifford to Englaawre known to have survived dating
from his period at Mount Benson. Sutton (2004) saggested that this may be due to
one of Gifford’s younger cousins coming over fromgk&and to ‘try his luck’ in the
Colony, and to work with Gifford (Sutton, 2004: 24thereby allaying Gifford’s
loneliness and need to write home. Gifford’s lettesveal a sense of homesickness and a

yearning for communication with his relatives ingland. For example, in one letter,
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dated i' September, 1844, he wrote, “I long to hear froomsmf you again” (Sutton,

2004: 13).

In order to make an assessment as to the defehsietionality of the dwelling, it is
necessary to have an idea as to the layout oftthasit was at the time of the dwelling’s
construction. Here, we are fortunate to have ailddtdescription and plan of the layout
of the head station dated to 1864 (SRSA, GRG 3%/@5gure 4.1.9). In addition to this
we have an 1864-66 valuation of the property whittiudes a description of the
buildings on site, as well as a general indicatidrtheir relative ages (SRSA, GRG
35/654). John Gifford’s period of occupation at Mouenson was from at least June
1847 (SRSA, GRG 24/6/1847/585) until about Aprib48when he transferred the run to
Benjamin Rochfort and Thomas Seymour (SA Lands Bep@nt, Memorial No. 246 Bk

68).
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Figure 4.1.9. 1864 hand-drawn plan of the layout fothe Mount Benson head station with
accompanying description.

There is sufficient evidence to confidently atttduhe construction of the dwelling at
this site to John Gifford. However, it is rathesdeclear as to whether the two stone
outbuildings nearby also date to his period of patiwn. As stated previously, the first
colonists to occupy the run were Grote and StirMgughan, 1986: 25). Gifford was
noted as being at Mount Benson by 1847 (SRSA, GRG/2347/585), and the 1851 run
map shows the location of the “Old Station”, in #idd to “Head Station” (Figure 4.1.8).
The location of the head station is the same as dhdhe site under investigation.
Therefore, it can be deduced that “Old Stationtnefd to Grote and Stirling’s station
and the “Head Station” was the new site occupie®ibfprd. Furthermore, in a valuation
of the Mount Benson run in 1864-66, the dwellingchken and shed are described as

being, “...very old” (by 1860s standards) (SRSA, GB&654). This also suggests that
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these three structures were built by Gifford. Theeking under investigation here is
popularly known as ‘Gifford’s’ by many of the oldeesidents of the area (Vaughan,
1986: 31), likely representing the continued assam of the site with Gifford through

oral history.

The plan and accompanying description (Figure %#.deScribe the dwelling as being of
stone, gabled, with three rooms, three doors aretvindows. There were two interior
dividing partitions, one gabled and one open. Theas also a chimney. The roof was
thatch. Adjoining the dwelling was an oak kitchemdaoom with one door and one
window, also with a chimney and a thatch roof. @ shows these oak structures
standing on exactly the same sites as the laterestmes (SRSA, GRG 35/653).
Evidently the oak structures were demolished ampdaced with stone ones, thereby

extending the dwelling, sometime after 1864-66.

As for the two stone outbuildings on the site (Fegu5.1.6 & 5.1.) there is evidence
that they do not date to Gifford’s period of occtia Again, this comes in the form of
the 1864-66 evaluation of the run (SRSA, GRG 356t the hand-drawn plan and
description (SRSA, GRG 35/65@&igure 4.1.9). Unlike the dwelling, these struetiare
not described in the evaluation as being “very gRSA, GRG 35/654). Assuming the
valuer was correct in his interpretation of theatigk age of the structures he saw, this
suggests that the two outbuildings werat very old, and therefore may date to after
Gifford’s period of occupation. The plan and accamgng description identify the

westernmost structure as being a stable and therea®st one as a store and men’s
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room. As described above, the current remains efatesternmost outbuilding show that
it was made of stone. However, the description @pamying the hand-drawn plan
describes this structure as made of oak with eclhedof. This indicates that, like the
kitchen and shed described above, the oak struetase demolished after 1864 and
replaced by a stone one. Curiously, although a weymappears to be shown on the plan,
it is not mentioned in the description. The easterst structure is evidently the same one
as described in 1864, as its form as shown onltreip identical to its extant plan today.

It too had a thatch roof (SRSA, GRG 35/653).

Going by the evidence, it can be confidently argtleat, at the time of the dwelling’'s
construction, structures present at the head statosisted of the stone dwelling itself,
an oak kitchen and a stone shed, the latter twactsires having been replaced with stone
ones after 1864-66, on the same sites. It is plestibt there were additional structures at
the site at this time, though no evidence was foainthe time of fieldwork, and none
were still standing in 1864-66. The fact that titeHen and shed were constructed of oak
may suggest that the current stone dwelling wagheobriginal one, but was built later
during Gifford’s period (1847-1854) to replace arlier dwelling, also of oak, though
separate to Stirling and Grote’s “Old Station”. ek into account the available
information regarding the early appearance of thadstead, its suggested appearance at

the time of the stone dwelling’s construction iswh in the plan below (Figure 4.1.10).
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Shed
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Kitchen Room

Figure 4.1.10. Suggested reconstructed plan of MouBenson homestead at the time of the dwelling’s
construction. The grey-shaded portions indicate stte construction, non-shaded portions indicate oak
construction.

The Indigenous Inhabitants

Gifford’s Mount Benson Run occupied land which wasgording to Horton’'s map, a
border zone between two general Aboriginal langugrgelps (Horton, 2000). The term
‘border’ is applied loosely here, as there woulgenbeen an overlap of land use by both
language groups. According to Horton’s map, theoniiy) of Gifford’s run was located
in the land of the Ngarrindjeri people, with thedaof the Buandig people on its southern
border (Horton, 2000). Within these general languggups there is evidence that there
were further divisions such as clans, dialects amdller language groups. For example,
Mrs J. Smith, who studied the Aborigines of thethosiast, mentions that there were

three ‘tribes’ who lived in an area close to MouBénson: the Polinjunga; the
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Witchintunga: and the Mootatunga (Vaughan, 1986:There is, however, conflicting
information regarding the name of the Indigenouspie who lived in this area, since
Norman Tindale identified this as the land of theiiMangk people (Vaughan, 1986: 7).
Unfortunately, the main incident of frontier cosfliwhich occurred on Gifford’s run (a
cattle raid) and which was documented at the tinaka®s no specific mention of the
name of the Aboriginal people who were involved $3R GRG 24/6/1847/585, GRG

24/6/1847/1153).

Estimating the size of Aboriginal populations iparticular area at the time of European
colonisation is always problematic, and is usulitilie more than an educated guess. This
is also the case for the Mount Benson district. @se&mate is that the Aboriginal
population of the whole south east district of ®oAustralia consisted of some 2000
individuals (Vaughan, 1986: 8). Therefore, the nambf individuals who regularly
occupied the Mount Benson district may have nunitbdvetween 100-200. We do,
however, have early documentary evidence that thk&® a considerable Aboriginal
population living around Mount Benson at the tini@atish colonisation. This comes in
the form of the George French Angas’ reminiscer(éesjas, 1969[1847]). Angas was
part of an expedition to the south east of Soutktralia in 1844 to determine the quality
of the land prior to opening it up for settlemenie date of this expedition is significant
because it was launched only a year prior to Gaot Stirling’s first settlement of the
Mount Benson run in mid-1845 (Vaughan, 1986: 25ng&s’ party ascended Mount
Benson itself (merely a round-topped eminence) lidiadarge signal fire. Angas goes on

to write:
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It was soon responded to by the natives towardsdhth and east, many columns
of smoke rising in that direction; and before weanded the hill, the natives
were signalizing [sic] all around, giving indicat® of a larger population
amongst these banksias [sic] woods than we hadipgetied (Angas, 1969[1847]:

150-1).

Dunn, possibly repeating local oral history, memgidhat large camps of Aborigines

lived on the Mount Benson run in the late 1840s%0&l(Dunn, 1969: 23).

To the average settler of the 1840s, the Coordmg rfame given to the whole coastal
region of which this site is part) would have reseneted the place of the Maria massacre.
This event was the massacre of some two dozen Eamoghipwreck survivors by
members of the Milmenrura clan, a group of the Ngdjeri people, in 1840 (Foster,
Hosking & Nettelbeck, 2001: 13). The reason for thassacre is unclear, but the end
result was the summary execution of at least twonb@¥s of the clan by a punitive
expedition led by Major T.S. O’Halloran (SRSA, 5/8Bunn writes that the Aborigines
of the Coorong were “thoroughly subdued” by the eyowvnent action (1969: 21), but a
look at the archival evidence suggests that this neat the case. The locality of the
massacre, Maria Creek, lies just north of Giffondia. Dunn may be correct in claiming
that the Aborigines of the south east were subdiyeitie Europeans, but it is more likely
that they were subdued by the violence describddwbéhan O’Halloran’s punitive

expedition.
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The south east of South Australia in the 1840s reasrded as a particularly violent
frontier (Foster, 1998: 220). A police report in4B8noted that the Aborigines to the
south east had been “most troublesome” recenthSEERGRG 24/6/1843/1269%2). By
1844, at least two years before Gifford arrive@, ¢fovernment had grown so concerned
about reports of frontier conflict in the south teisat a police Sergeant-Major was
dispatched to the district to investigate (SRSA, G5R4/6/1844/116), followed by
another in 1845, after the killing by Aborigines afsheep proprietor named Brown
(SRSA, GRG 24/6/1845/1267%). In 1846, the violeneas still rife, since local
pastoralist and magistrate Evelyn Sturt listed mloer of atrocities that he believed had
occurred in the district. He also wrote, “I beliewavholesale system of murder has been
carried on which it is most difficult to obtain angvidence of’ (SRSA, GRG
24/6/1846/116). In one incident, eight Aboriginesrevbelieved to have been massacred
in the area (SRSA, GRG 24/6/1846/116). In late 18B@riginal resistance in the south
eastern districts was still flaring when the rebthe province of South Australia was
calm (SRSA, GRG 24/6/1847/1462). In fact the polieports for 1847 are rich with
accounts of Aboriginal livestock raids, followed pwynitive expeditions composed of a
combination of police and local settlers (SRSA, GR@6/1847/278, 1153, 1462). In
four reported instances during 1847, these “affrégd to the killing and wounding of no
less than nine Aborigines with “several” more woeddbut with no settler casualties
(SRSA, GRG 24/6/1847/1153, 1462). One Aborigine aetsially “run through” with a
policeman’s sword (SRSA, GRG 24/6/1847/1462). ThHeorgines of the south east
district evidently gained a reputation for being,the words of the Commissioner of

Police, particularly “treacherous and predatoSREA, GRG 24/6/1847/278Y2).
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Angas also provided some early evidence of the iyb@al people of the south east
resisting colonial incursions by 1844. Several ikiétres south of Mount Benson, Angas’
party met some overlanders who had brought seteoalsand sheep in search of fresh
runs for the next season. Angas mentioned that Wwesg all well armed, as they had,
“...experienced some annoyance from the natives” 8&nd969[1847]: 151). Although

obtuse, this is likely to have been a typically Estgway of saying that the overlanders

had had a violent confrontation with the Aborigines

The properties of this region were primarily shesgtions, though cattle were also
stocked. In common with many other frontier regiomn$South Australia, the Aborigines

expressed their resistance to European colonishyiattacking the settler's main source
of capital: their livestock. The most significanteat to take place at Mount Benson
during Gifford’s period was the wholesale drivinggay and slaughtering of a large
number of Gifford’s cattle by Aborigines. This oceed in early 1847, very soon after
Gifford settled on the run. We know of this incitddrecause it was reported by the
Commissioner of Police (SRSA, GRG 24/6/1847/1158) referred on to the Colonial
Secretary, who wrote to the Governor, “Police hdwveught under my notice two

outrages on property committed by Aboriginal naiVESRSA, GRG 24/6/1847/585). In

it, the report of the local policeman statione@Rabe is included:

The second case was the slaughter of a numbetttd balonging to Mr. Gifford

of Mount Benson. The cattle were driven on a snsédind near Lake Eliza and

when Mr. Gifford discovered the fact, a great mdeasts had been killed,
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nothing but the carcases [skeletons?] remainindneSt were dead, with the
spears affixed in their bodies. The police wentautnformation being given, but
were not successful in apprehending any one, atihdbe natives were seen
running away on the other side of the water. Simgereturn | caused one man
who appeared, rather a leading person in the tiibehis vicinity, to be

apprehended but, as he could not be identified &g after a remand of a few
days, dismissed. | am in great hopes that evercitbtamstances of him being
taken up by me be productive of good. It gives meagpleasure to close this
report by adding that no violence against persoeitber European or Aboriginal
has occurred and everything at the present monsepeifectly quiet (SRSA,

GRG 24/6/1847/585).

The incident also came to the notice of Matthew Mbouse, the Protector of Aborigines
for South Australia at the time. His comments areresting because they attempt to
explain the reason for the raid and express a sangptimism about the results of the

(failed) police investigation. He writes:

I have heard of no serious losses except in thel@niBay district and there Mr.
Gifford has had 40 head of cattle speared. Thimitsa newly settled district and
the natives have seen little of the Europeansjrbtiie above instance a diligent
search was made by the police to detect the guulyties and, although
unsuccessful, yet it will have convinced the natitleat such aggressions are not

overlooked and not unlikely to go unpunished (SRGRG 24/6/1847/585).
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There are two possible reasons why Aboriginal peaplthis region stole and killed

settler’'s livestock. The first may have been outaofcombination of survival and

convenience. The Europeans had invaded the Abefgymunting grounds and taken the
best water. With the encroachment of sheep ant @atto their land, the Commissioner
of Police recognised that the Aborigines were figdthat native food sources were
dwindling and that it was far easier to catch lteek (SRSA, GRG 24/6/1847/278%).
Proof that the Aborigines were finding it very difilt to procure food can be found in
the fact that as early as 1847 flour rations weri@dpissued in the region (SRSA, GRG
24/6/1847/278%2). Furthermore, the Commissionerahic® blamed the careless tending
of large flocks of sheep as creating a temptatotiné Aborigines, leading to most of the

conflicts (SRSA, GRG 24/6/1847/278%%).

The second possible reason for the constant sgeahd spearing of stock in this area
was as a form of resistance (as discussed in Aomgtrl980: 116-20). Although used to
their traditional laws of reciprocity, the punishmt® the Aborigines received when they
sought repayment through stock spearing would hempressed upon them the
Europeans’ very different attitude. However, thet fthat the Aborigines continued to
take the settlers’ stock, often in much larger nerelthan could possibly be eaten, is
evidence that they were motivated by more than éungn this sense their actions were
those of defiance towards the invaders. The spgavinGifford’s cattle is a good

example of these deliberate acts of resistancerentnany more cattle were driven away
and killed than would have been necessary to simpgt the Aboriginal group’s food

needs. As the Robe policeman’s report states, wtheome of the cattle had evidently
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been butchered, others were simply speared and fteft dead (SRSA, GRG

24/6/1847/585).

Fear of Aboriginal aggression in the late 1840setoly 1850s was evidently quite
prevalent in this region. For example, Thomas Momwif Bowaka station, located
approximately 22 kilometres east of Mount Bensoauhd not allow Aborigines around
the homestead, and women on isolated homesteadsiwfar of attack while their men
were out working (Dunn, 1969: 28). Gifford himseMould no doubt have been

significantly affected by what happened to him welgards to the cattle raid.

It was during the period of Gifford’s occupation tbe Mount Benson run that another
settler in the region, James Brown, was accusedeo$hooting massacre of a number of
Aborigines. Much has already been written conceyims incident, the most recent and
in-depth analysis being found in Foster, Hoskind Blettelbeck (2001: 74-93). There are
several primary documentary sources which desevlm was alleged to have happened.
These consist of two letters from the Colonial 8ty (one to the Protector of
Aborigines and the other to the Commissioner ofid@o]SRSA, GRG 24/4/1847/176,
177]), two documents from the Protector of Aborggn(one a letter to the Colonial
Secretary [SRSA, GRG 24/6/1849/451] and the othexpart on his activities [SRSA,
GRG 24/6/1849/643]), and a letter from the Advoc&eneral describing the case

(SRSA, GRG 24/6/1849/1388).
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The date of the massacre is uncertain, but thee€uot of Aborigines believed that it
occurred about September 1848 (SRSA, GRG 24/6/683%/ whereas the Advocate
General believed it occurred around November (SRGRG 24/6/1849/1388). The
allegation against James Brown was that he andtbek keeper, angered by Aborigines
driving away a number of Brown'’s sheep, decidethtmch a punitive raid. When they
caught up with the Aborigines who had the sheep Abhorigines fled. However, a blind
old man, five women and three children who coult eszape in time were slaughtered
on the spot. Their bodies appeared to have begallyiburied and later exhumed and

burnt (SRSA, GRG 24/6/1849/1388).

The Protector of Aborigines and a police constaidee dispatched to the scene of the
massacre to investigate. They were shown the mtat the massacre by an Aboriginal

witness. Here, the Protector of Aborigines found:

...five graves in the vicinity of which were humannes; the bodies had been
exhumed and burnt about 80 paces to the northeafidves; | saw the remains of

the fire amongst which were calcined human bonBSE GRG 24/6/1849/643).

Although the local magistrate who committed Browen frial, Captain Butler, believed
there was, “...little question of the butchery ortbé butcher” (Mortlock Library, D.

3746/3 [L]), the Advocate General had to conceds th was impossible to obtain
sufficient evidence for a conviction (SRSA, GRG&4849/1388). This was mainly due

to the ‘silence of the frontier’, manifesting itel the fact that:
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From the examination of such of the witnesses addcbe got to attend the
sittings, and who were all more or less connectdith Whe prisoner, it was
apparent that they were determined to give no eceléo impeach him (SRSA,

GRG 24/6/1849/1388).

In the opinions of the Advocate General and CapRitler, the case of James Brown
didn’t appear to be as much about determining Bisvguilt as about proving it. A
motive can even be found in one of the CommissiafdPolice’s reports, prior to the
alleged massacre which states that, “The policdcaidng after some natives who are
accused of attacking a flock of a Mr Browne neaicen Bay, having broken the legs of
several, were disturbed and decamped without thended sport” (SRSA, GRG
24/6/1847/1153). No official action appears to hheen taken upon this matter, which

may well have led to Brown seeking revenge himself.

Gifford would certainly have been aware of the gdions and the ensuing investigations
concerning Brown. He may well have known Brown pasedly. The case became a
sensation, even in Adelaide, where an account apgéa theSouth Australian Register

on 20" March 1849:

Whole sale murder. The Thompsons arrived on Sajuliai, bringing a settler
named James Brown, a prisoner in charge of P.Gelkairom Guichen Bay.
Brown was fully committed by Captain G.V. Butler archarge of murdering five

blacks. The evidence was chiefly aboriginal, budasl to be fearfully conclusive.
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In the museum of the Kingston South East brancthefNational Trust, there is a very
interesting, and possibly unique, artefact. Thia v8ooden door, recorded as having been
removed from one of the buildings of James BrowAienue Range’ (later, ‘Keilira’ or
‘Kalyra’) station. What makes this door so sigrafit is that it has a small aperture built
into it which is fitted with a horizontally slidinggooden slide, allowing the aperture to be
opened or closed (Figure 4.1.11). The purpose isf dperture, according to the label
attached to the door, is believed to have beemasnbrasure for firing at Aborigines
through. The staff at the Museum had no furtheorimfation about the source of this

information, suggesting that it was passed dowroxé history.
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Figure 4.1.11. Door taken from James Brown’s ‘Avene Range’ (‘Keilira’) station, near Kingston
South East. Brown'’s station was established in thiate 1840s. The label attached to the door reads,
“Door from old ‘Keilira’, opening specially made by James Brown for the use in many raids on the
Aboriginals of his day.” View of interior side of door. Courtesy of the Kingston South East branch of
the National Trust.

Visual inspection of the door gave no grounds tggest that it was not of the period
claimed (i.e. late 1840s — early 1850s). The apertan also be said with confidence to
be original, showing that the door was purposettwith the aperture included. There
has been minor repair work done in modern timessisting of the fitting of a new upper
slide housing, but this is easily discernable frtiva rest of the fabric. Unfortunately,

there is little information regarding what partigubuilding at the homestead the door
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was taken from, nor when it was removed. The cticarator of the museum believes it
was donated to the National Trust some time inl®@0s or 70s (Kathleen White, pers.
comm., 20/4/2005). Nor is there any clue as to iwrethere were more such doors fitted
to the buildings at Avenue Range. Therefore, asftem happens with artefacts donated

to museums, it is impossible to study the functibyaf the door in its original context.

However, the presence of the aperture makes thos highly unusual. This was not a
feature usually found in non-defensively designedrd of this period, rural or urban.

There is, however, supporting documentary evideridbe use of such doors in frontier
Australia. Hudson Fysh, in his 1933 book about @@eensland frontier, described
homestead doors loopholed to accommodate riflesase of Aboriginal raids (Fysh,

1933:126). The closest comparison with such antageare those fitted to the doors of
19" century gaol cells. The significant differenceviegn the two, however, is that those
in cell doors are opened and closed from the oetsichd the doors themselves are
generally much more strongly built, for obviouss®as. The aperture from the Avenue
Range door, on the other hand, is clearly designebe opened and closed from the

inside.

Taking into account James Brown’s obviously violend hateful attitude towards the
Aborigines, as evinced by his likely massacre efrihthe fact that there is corroborating
historical evidence of the use of such doors (agkysh, 1933: 126), and the perfectly

functional design of the aperture, it is most hk#éhat this door was indeed what it is
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believed to have been, an example of civilian ubedefensive architecture on the

Australian frontier.

Because this door came from a station contempouwsnedth, and located relatively
close to Gifford’s Mount Benson station, it canthken as physical evidence of an acute
feeling of being under threat from hostile Aboriggnon the part of at least some settlers
in this region. Thus, it constitutes supportingdevice of the myth that Mount Benson

was also built with provisions for defence.

Results and Interpretation

Fieldwork on the Mount Benson site was carriedaugr a period of three days, from the
19" to the 2% April, 2005. The fieldwork team consisted of thethr and two
assistants. As with all of the structures invesédawithin this project, the fieldwork was
focussed on creating an accurate record of the asppee of the site. Most of the
fieldwork involved taking measurements of the ramray 19" century structures on the
site, enabling accurate measured drawings of thernet made. Photographic records
were also made of the structures and some of thafures, such as the aperture in the

dwelling.

On the southern side of the dwelling the earthsrisea mound, beginning approximately
two metres from the southern wall and gently ridiedore falling away to the low, flat
plain south of the homestead site. This was imnelgianoted as being of possible

significance to the assessment of the dwellingfertve functionality, since it appeared
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to drastically shorten the line of sight and firerh the possible embrasure. Therefore, it
was necessary to record this feature in relatiothéodwelling. A cross-section of the

mound was therefore drawn, showing the line of tsigbssible from the dwelling’s

aperture (Figure 4.1.14)

Figure 4.1.12. View of southern side of dwellingrom the reverse slope of the mound. This view
shows the point at which the dwelling’s defender wadd be able to see, and therefore, fire upon an
attacker through the aperture (i.e. approximately @ metres from dwelling). Facing north.
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Figure 4.1.13. View showing the southern wall ohe dwelling in relation to the mound. Facing east.

Line of Sight/Fire - - — — ==~~~ 777

Southern Wall of Dwelling

Figure 4.1.14. Diagram showing the line of sightral fire offered by the aperture, in relation to the
mound on the southern side of the dwelling.

It was unclear whether or not this mound was aréfi However, in some places near the
dwelling’s southern wall, where the earth had bexravated away in recent times (Mrs
Hayes, pers. comm. 20/4/2005), limestone bedrock wisible. This suggests that the

mound is natural.
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In order to assess the practicality of the apeffiarese as an embrasure, it was necessary
to determine the arc of fire available to a defengsng it. Here, again, the mound was
significant. This was because it was the main feati the site that affected the arc of
fire through the aperture. The protruding chimnagéonext to the aperture on its eastern

side was also found marginally to narrow the arfiref

Figure 4.1.15. Diagram showing arc of fire availald to defenders on the southern side of the dwelling
as well as the mound. The length of the aperture’arc shows the maximum distance one can observe
and fire on an attacker approaching from the south.Contour intervals: .25m.

Finally, the accessibility of the aperture had éotésted. Although located very close to

the exterior ground level, the diagram below shole the interior floor level of the
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room with the aperture is much lower than the eotdevel (Figure 4.1.16). At 130cm
from the floor, the aperture is located at a coremnheight for firing through in the

standing position.

Ceiling
N
1.3m
Floor W

Figure 4.1.16. Elevation showing height of aperturabove interior floor of dwelling.

Evidence Supporting the Myth’s Veracity

The driving away and spearing of a large numberchie by Aborigines (SRSA, GRG

24/6/1847/585) provided Gifford with a strong metifor feeling threatened and, hence,
building defensively. It has been argued above thet raid was an act of hostility

directed against Gifford by the local Aboriginest merely an attempt to obtain food.
That Gifford experienced this personally makesighly significant to the investigation

of the veracity of the myth. It is easy to see mmwh a hostile action, occurring soon
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after Gifford settled in the region, would have saa him to be extra cautious about his

safety and to fear the Aborigines.

Added to Gifford’s own experience of Aboriginal tibs/ was the history of frontier
conflict in the region in general. Most of this aoed prior to Gifford’s arrival in the
district, so would have formed the background ctowi$ in which he established his
station. By the time Gifford arrived in the distribiere had already been a massacre of
Europeans from the Maria ship wreck in 1840 (Fostesking & Nettelbeck, 2001: 13),

a policeman had been dispatched to the area tcstigate the high level of frontier
conflict (SRSA, GRG 24/6/1845/116), and in 184&sl¢han a year prior to Gifford’'s
arrival, another settler was complaining of a whale system of murder having been
carried out on the Aborigines (SRSA, GRG 24/6/1846). It is easy to appreciate how
such a history would have caused a newcomer toetjen like Gifford to be worried

about Aboriginal hostility, causing him to buildshdwelling with defensive provisions.

Although limited in its field of vision and range approximately 29 metres by the
mound, the dwelling’s aperture still represents raag addition to its defensibility
compared to having no apertures or a conventiomaaw in this position. In fact, the
very presence of the mound, with its limiting effapon the field of vision from this side
of the dwelling, would make itnore important to have a small aperture here. This is
because the location of the mound would have allioateackers to approach very close
to the rear of the dwelling before they could bensby the dwelling’'s occupants. By

having a small aperture here, a defender could &ukfire out of it, thus covering this
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vulnerable side of the building, yet it would be temall for a person to enter through
(unlike a window) and would provide far greater eovfor the defender than a

conventional window.

The position of the aperture is entirely functiontlis located 1.3 metres from the
interior floor of the dwelling (Figure 4.1.16). Ehis a very convenient height for firing
through in the standing position, even more sdHergenerally shorter man of the 1840s.
Its horizontal position is also entirely functionddeing between the hearth and the
interior dividing wall of the dwelling, yet not todose to cramp the defender (Figure

4.1.10).

Although embrasures found in military buildings aypically angled outwards on the
interior, allowing a small exterior opening and ageer interior one, Mount Benson
homestead’s aperture, on the other hand, is sisguyare in shape, with parallel sides.
However, the size of the aperture (approx. 25cnben® actually compensates for its
amateur-like design. Its dimensions are such thallaws a very reasonable arc of fire
and vision (Figure 4.1.15), yet is still small eghbuo give the defender a great amount of
protection from Aboriginal missile weapons. It wouhave taken an extremely lucky

throw for a spear to pass clean through the 25ararechole and strike the defender.

The final point which supports the interpretatidntlte aperture as an embrasure is the

fact that one cannot see any other purpose frtite builder wished to have a source of

light or ventilation in this wall he could have lua conventional window, such as that
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included in the rear wall of the later stone rodrherefore the builder must have has a
specific reason for incorporating this feature itite building in this position. The only

reason for which there is any evidence is thati$ wn embrasure for defence.

Evidence Opposing the Myth’s Veracity

There are only two pieces of evidence which cogldiged to oppose the myth’s veracity.
First, one could argue that the positioning of tlveelling with its rear field of vision
drastically impaired by the mound is evidence that builder was not concerned about
Aboriginal attacks. If he was, one could assume lieawould have taken such things as

field of vision into account when selecting a pasitfor his dwelling.

The second piece of evidence opposing the mytheidact that there is no evidence that
Gifford or his employee’s lives were ever in danfyfem the Aborigines. Thus, it can be
argued that there is no direct evidence that Gifftalt physically threatened by the
Aborigines and therefore would have felt no needincorporate special defensive

architectural features into the design of his dwvgll

Mount Benson — Conclusions

The bulk of the evidence, obtained through a playsévaluation of the site and the
historical documents, leads one to the conclugiahwhat the myth interprets as a “rifle
port-hole” (Barrowman, 1971: 56) was indeed thator@n correctly termed an

‘embrasure’). The evidence supporting this conolusar outweighs that opposing it.
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It is suggested here that the stone dwelling ingattd was most likely theecond
dwelling lived in by Gifford when he arrived at MauBenson. When Gifford first
arrived at Mount Benson he probably lodged in eitBeote and Stirling’s old station
dwelling on a site further south (Figure 4.1.8),ar oak hut on or near the current
homestead site. There is a possible clue that taseonce an oak hut here in the fact
that there was definitely once an oak kitchen lreteée mid 1860s which was at the time
described as “very old” (SRSA, GRG 35/654). Thendigance of this is that if Gifford
was living in an earlier dwelling at the time higtite was raided by Aborigines in early
1847 (SRSA, GRG 24/6/1847/585), then it would exptane of the main reasons why
Gifford built his new, stone dwelling with extrafdasive features. Furthermore, Gifford
can only have been at Mount Benson for a short (jpeehaps only a few weeks) when
his cattle were raided. It is unlikely that he webhiave had the time to finish building the
stone dwelling this early in his occupation of then. Nor was it usual for the first
dwelling to be erected on a new run to be stonehS3nore permanent structures were
generally built some time after the pastoralist bstéblished himself and his stock on the
run (Roxburgh & Baglin, 1978: 10). Often stone Hdunbs were only erected once the
squatter had his document proving ownership of orealsland (Roxburgh & Baglin,

1978: 10).

The imperfect positioning of the dwelling (near tmeund) can be explained by either

the total inexperience of the builder in militangkitecture or there may have been some

other, more practical reason why the current pmsitivas preferred. The defensive
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feature on this side (namely the embrasure) may bage been built because the builder

did in fact recognise the vulnerability of the dived’s rear caused by the mound.

Although there is no direct documentary evidengg @Gifford or his employees were in
physical danger from the Aborigines, or that Giffdelt he was, the material evidence
tells a different story. It suggests that he obsigiuelt he was under threat enough to
warrant the building of a defensive feature ints twelling. His fortified dwelling
shows that he believed that the Aborigines migtenapt to raid his dwelling and/or harm
him. The historical evidence corresponds with telswing some of the factors which
may have caused him to feel this way, such as dtteeadaid and the history of frontier

conflict in the region.
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Central Outstation (Eyre Peninsula, South Australig

I

Figure 4.2.0. Western side of the ‘Men’s Hut’ at @ntral Outstation. This photograph, taken in 1970,
shows the appearance of this side of the buildingebore the collapse of a large portion of the wall.
Three rectangular apertures are clearly visible, egnly spaced along the wall. From Baillie, 1978: 134

The Site

Central Outstation was established as an outstafianrun taken up by Price Maurice in
early 1856 (SAGG, vol.1-2, 1857: 150). This was ohaeveral connected runs owned
by Price Maurice in the Sheringa area. The site drdg one standing structure, a
rectangular stone dwelling of three rooms, set irgemerally flat and featureless

landscape. It is this structure to which the dafenarchitecture myth is attached.

The Myth

The ‘defensive architecture’ myth associated witis site was recorded by prominent

Eyre Peninsula local historian, P.J. Baillie, is hB78 bookPort Lincoln and District: A
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Pictorial History. The myth appears in the form of the caption tehatograph of the

building investigated here (Figure 4.2.0). The mapteads:

A settler's home near Sheringa. Note the tiny wimsldouilt as a precaution
against Aboriginal attack. Such homes were numerscettered over the West

Coast, but today they are a rarity (Baillie, 19784).

Baillie’s is the earliest identified recording diig interpretation of the design of the “tiny
windows” or apertures. It is not known upon whatewnce or authority Baillie made this
interpretation. Baillie himself evidently had no uldds as to the use of defensive
architecture by colonial civilians, since he ddsed its use in at least two other instances
in his writings. One of these was in regards toudding at Warrow Station where a

photo’s caption describes:

A specially built-in rifle loop-hole in buildingsear Port Lincoln. They were
designed to allow the shoulders to enter. The actaned here is in the men’s hut
at Warrow Station. Natives were boldly attackinguiagt the intrusion of the

white settlers (Baillie, 1978: 134).

The above quote does, however, betray Baillie’sunifarity with the finer details of the
design and function of embrasures. Embrasures wewer designed to “allow the
shoulders to enter” as this would have been inbhgdestrictive and impractical. Here,

Baillie misinterpreted the purpose of outward-adgdeles to the embrasure, which were
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actually designed to allow the firer to traverse hrearm through a greater arc than
would have been possible with a straight-sided slotvever, this does demonstrate how
local historians can and do interpret objects basedow they think they functioned,

rather than how they actually did.

Baillie’s third reference to this kind of architac¢ concerns ‘Tiatucka’ (or Tiatuckia)

house, near Port Lincoln. Of it, he writes:

There is an attic retreat, fashioned with long oarapertures, from which rifle
fire could be directed against any attack by Abogg. In these formative years
aggression was real and impending, a conditionotigitly understood by the

early settlers (Baillie, 1972: 20).

Location

Central Outstation is located approximately 100krMV of Port Lincoln, South
Australia. The site itself is accessed via a dwd which runs between Tooligie and
Sheringa, and lies approximately half-way betwden tivo localities, set back a short

distance from the southern side of the road.
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Figure 4.2.1. Map showing the general location ofhe site in relation to Port Lincoln, South
Australia. The numbers along roads show the distarecin kilometres between points. Adapted from
Carto Graphicsmap of Eyre Peninsula, 2002.
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The Men’s Hut

Figure 4.2.2. Eastern (front) side of the Men’s Hutt Central Outstation, 2005.

This is the only 19 century structure still standing at the site (Fégd.2.2). The building

is gable roofed and made of limestone random rublite front (eastern) side of the
building has been plastered and whitewashed, etlydarvery long time ago, judging by
its condition and appearance. All of the interioallwsurfaces have been similarly
plastered and whitewashed. The building has wodtbemboards and underneath the

corrugated iron roof can be seen an evidently naldér shingle roof.

The interior space of the building is divided itthoee rooms (Figure 4.2.3). The northern

and southern rooms each have an open fireplace ahitihney, the fireplace in the
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northern room being noticeably larger than thatm southern room. Between these two
rooms is a small central room. The northern andh&wo rooms each have a doorway on
the eastern side and all rooms also have a windowhi side. The central room,

however, can only be accessed from within the montmoom, where there is a doorway,
and possibly from a similar doorway in the southerom, however, due to the fact that
the southern interior wall has completely collapseds unclear whether there was

originally a doorway here.

It [EEE | |

=~

Figure 4.2.3. Plan of the Men’s Hut. Grey-shaded ptions are reconstructions of collapsed wall
sections.

147



R

T

Figure 4.2.4. Recent (2005) photograph of the MesiHut, showing the collapsed portion of wall on
the western side.

As can be seen from the plan and photograph abeneiré 4.2.3 & 4.2.4), a large
portion of the western wall of this building hadlapsed, evidently some time between
1970, when the picture showing it intact was takese Figure 4.2.0), and the time of
investigation (2005). However, using the 1970 pgmiph as a guide, it was a simple
task to reconstruct how it appeared before itsapsk. This wall has no doorways or
windows as such, but has three small square apsnwiilt into it (Figures 5.2.0 & 5.2.3).
These were placed so that each interior room aoedabne of these apertures. The
surviving aperture measures approximately 31cm hgn8 and is straight sided
throughout the width of the wall (Figure 4.2.5)idiocated 1.43 metres above the ground

on the outside of the building and 1.18 metres alibe interior floor. The measurements
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of this surviving aperture can be confidently takerapproximate those of the collapsed

ones, based on the 1970 photograph.

i MINNG

Figure 4.2.5. Exterior (left) and interior (right) views of the surviving aperture in the northern roan
of the Men’s Hut.

At some later stage, the apertures in the northach southern rooms were blocked up
with stones and covered on the exterior with cemBme material used (modern looking
cement, due to its clean, pure appearance) sugtiestshis was done in the late™9
early 20" century. That the now collapsed southern apemwustreated this way was
confirmed by the discovery of a cement —coveredesfdug in the rubble on this side. A
close look at the 1970 photograph (Figure 4.8)ws that the aperture on this side was
much more rectangular than square, matching theesbiathe plug perfectly. The central

aperture, on the other hand, was evidently fitteth v wooden frame and a hinged
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shutter. The remains of this frame, along with @uits for the hinges, was found amongst
the rubble in the vicinity of the aperture’s fornparsition. Its smaller, square dimensions

also correspond with this aperture’s appearanteeii 970 (Figure 4.2.0) photograph.

Other Structures

There are no other T9century structures still standing at this siteeTénly other
structures present are a 1930s house (Noswortl®8: 8) and three small associated
outbuildings. There was, however, at least onerot$8 century building on the site,
which has since been completely demolished. Thiklibg can be seen in an undated
photograph, giving a good indication of its appeaeaand location (Figure 4.2.6). It is
also visible on an 1884 survey diagram (Figure83.2t is this diagram which identifies

this building as a ‘Bachelor’s Hall’

Figure 4.2.6. Undated photograph of Central Outstabn. The Men’s Hut is at right. The building at
left has been demolished. The original caption read‘Original living quarters at Central Station”.
From Nosworthy, 1988: 87.
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Figure 4.2.7. Kappawanta Station, ca 1896. Note ttemilarities between it and Central Outstation in
figure 4.2.6, above. From Nosworthy, 1988: 75.

I
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?{5015&
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|
l,
I
Figure 4.2.8. Survey diagram, dated 6/8/1884, show the ‘Men’s Hut' and the now-demolished
‘Bachelor’s Hall'. Courtesy of the Land Services Goup, S.A.

.@)

This building was considerably smaller than the Mddut. A striking parallel to this

kind of station layout can be found in the ca 1@®@tograph of Kappawanta Station
(Figure 4.2.7), established in 1858 (Nosworthy, 8982). Both stations consist of a
three-windowed, two-doored, long building next tosmaller one-doored building.
Kappawanta, although not established by Price Mauwwas located only approximately

30km north-west of Central Outstation. Thomas Hoand Edward Kent, its owners,
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were, however, closely associated with Mauriceghay initially stocked the station with

two flocks of Maurice’s sheep (Nosworthy, 1988:.72)

Site History

The region in which the site is located was exmldrg Edward John Eyre in 1841. Eyre
described the country prior to pastoral settlenasntonsisting of “...low grassy hills but
most dreadfully stony...”, consisting of “...barren daby land...” (Eyre, 1964[1845]:
188-9). There were also lightly wooded areasagfuarinag(sheoak) (Eyre, 1964[1845]:
189). Nosworthy has noted that the decline of teoak woodlands commenced soon
after colonial settlement and was substantially glete by the 1930s (Nosworthy, 1988:

3).

As mentioned above, the earliest documentary eclér pastoral use of this run shows
that it was leased by the Commissioner of Crowndsaand Immigration to Price
Maurice on January®] 1856 (SAGG, vol.1-2, 1857: 150). The run consisté 137
square miles (220.5 square kilometres), which wageglarge compared to most
surrounding runs (SAGG, vol.1-2, 1857: 150). Noutoentary evidence could be found
to provide a definite date for the constructiontled building under investigation here.
However, one of the first requirements in usingrinewould have been the construction
of shelter and living quarters for the staff at tha’s head station. Thus, it is likely that
the Men’s Hut, one of the two known dwellings a¢ tlead station, was built the year the
run was leased (1856). Considering the lease wasuéed at the beginning of the year
(SAGG, vol.1-2, 1857: 150), it is likely that theildling was completed within that year.

After this was completed, the several shepherdts Amound the run would have been
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constructed. Although no f&entury plans could be located showing any othédings
on this run, Nosworthy contains a map showing teation of several huts and wells

(Nosworthy, 1988: 28) (Figure 4.2.9).
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The Indigenous Inhabitants

Central Outstation is located on the land of thevilgdor Nauo) Aboriginal language
group (Horton, 2000). The Reverend C.W. Schurman@grman missionary, has left us
with a valuable contemporary anthropological stofiyhe Aboriginal tribes of the Eyre
Peninsula (Schurmann, 1846). Schurmann wrote tlattwo “tribes” with which the
European settlers were in daily contact were theoNsand the Parnkalla (or Banggarla or
Battara) (Schurmann, 1846: 28). Horton’'s map alsmns a language group called the
Wirangu whose land extends from the eastern sidbeofGreat Australian Bight to the
north western edge of Eyre Peninsula (Horton, 20 yure 4.2.10). Although
Schurmann stated that “Any attempt at computing rineber of the natives [on the
peninsula ca 1846] must be futile”, he suggestad ithwas unlikely there would have

been more than 200 individuals in each tribe (Stlamn, 1846: 28).

© Je Ced Wirangu 1
sz Hfeeah
Wudinna e Kb ‘ ”% l\
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| Central Outstatlon sKad
X e Narangga)

Figure 4.2.10. Map showing location of site in retéon to approximate tribal/language group lands.
After Horton, 2000.
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With regards to frontier conflict and the threatsettlers at this site, there is a wealth of
primary evidence available in the form of persdetkrs, official reports and newspaper
articles. The documentary evidence, presented hedaimts a picture of this region as a
major trouble-spot for frontier conflict for mangars, starting from the time of colonial
settlement. The first pastoral settlers in theapgrrived in the late 1840s and conflict
erupted virtually immediately. Prior to settlemefthe west coast of the Eyre Peninsula,
there was already a strong history of frontier Gonhtlating back to 1841, when ten year
old Francis Hawson was mortally speared by Aboegifess than five kilometres from
Port Lincoln (Eyre, 1845/1964: 163-5). This cortflieached its first peak in 1842 when
five settlers were killed by the Aborigines and ditary punitive expedition was
launched to crush the resistance (SRSA, GRG 2444/181, GRG 24/6/1842/91, GRG
24/6/1842/354). After this there was a marked r&édaodn frontier conflict between the
period 1844-1848 (Charter, 1989: 25). Perhaps comethe violence of the colonial
reprisals, the Aborigines mainly restricted the@sistance to sheep theft and hut

plundering during this time (SRSA, GRG 24/6/1840423).

However, with the settlement of the west coashefEyre Peninsula came a new wave of
frontier conflict. Pastoral settlement of this @yibegan in late 1847-1848 with several
runs being taken up under occupational licenses.fifbt reported clash in this region
actually occurred on a run that Price Maurice waakk over less than two and a half
years later (i.e. in late 1851 [Cockburn, 1927:]234&nd that lay adjacent to Central
Outstation. This was William Ranson Mortlock’s rahSheringa. In June 1848, two of

Mortlock’s employees, a shepherd and a hut keeperg speared by an Aboriginal
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sheep-stealing party (SRSA, GRG 24/6/1848/1156)nSdter this, the head station itself

was attacked. The Aborigines surprised it and settb one of the huts while the

overseer and two other men were inside. The empfydowever, managed to

extinguish the fire and drive away the attackeR3&, GRG 24/6/1848/424).

, Central Qutstation

Bramfield Run
N T.C. Horne

Sharinga Run
W.R. Mortlock, J.F. Haigh

] Lake Hamilton Run
E.B. Vaux

Early West Coast Runs
1848-1851

Mount Drummond Run

Beevor & Lodwick

7

Figure 4.2.11. Map showing location of early westoast runs, 1848-1851, as well as the approximate
location of the site under investigation. After Noworthy, 1988: 14.

The first European to die at the hands of the Ajoes during the period of frontier

conflict on the west coast was a hut keeper, Joamgd Hamp’s body was discovered

with his head sawn into two pieces, by a hand sawd in the hut. This occurred in June

1848 (SRSA, GRG 24/6/1848/1156). This event wasrned in theSouth Australian

which recorded that, “The inhabitants of that pdrthe district have already asked for a
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police station in their neighbourhood, which hasrbeefused. And it is to be feared they
will be driven to take the law into their own hands native aggression is frequent”
(South AustralianJul 21, 1848: 3A). The following month an empley& Pinkerton’s

Lake Newland run shot and killed an Aborigine, gdidly in self defence, while seeking

the return of a stolen shirt (SRSA, GRG 24/6/18882).

The attacks on Mortlock's run continued and in Jai48, Elias Lee, another of
Mortlock’s shepherds narrowly escaped being speareide guarding his flock. The
Adelaide Times reported that, “Kumbulta, a most Ourang-Outang kilog
aboriginal...[threw] a spear at Lee, which glided g side and killed an ewe which
stood close to him. The same black had killed soimthe flock on the previous day”
(June 18, 1849: 3D). In November 1848 there washenattack on Mortlock’s run. This
time a shepherd was ambushed outside his hutynegea spear in his back. However,
the shepherd managed to seize his firearm, at wioaht the Aborigines “decamped at

speed” (SRSA, GRG 24/6/1849/238).

The year 1849 saw further killings on both sides.April 1849 theAdelaide Times
reported that a shepherd named Symms, fed up withtant Aboriginal pilfering from
his hut, lay in wait for the next attempt. When Aborigine next entered the hut, a
struggle ensued. Symms “seized a gun that sto@daonvenient corner, and shot his
sable adversary, just as the latter was in thefactising the axe over his head, to inflict
a ‘finishing blow’. The wounded black scampered sdime thirty yards before he fell”

(Adelaide TimesApril 9, 1849: 3D). The following month saw twoone killings of
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settlers on the west coast. James Beevor of theaM@rummond run was killed in his
hut by Aborigines in May, followed shortly by thalling of shepherd’'s wife Anne
Eastone (or Easton), in her hut on the Lake Hamilt;n (SRSA, GRG 24/6/1849/1404).
These killings were reported in tB®uth Australiar{fMay 25, 1849: 2E) and featured in a
highly indignant letter to the same paper attackimg incompetence of the authorities
and stating that, “...the present system [of polidimg Aborigines] will not do now, and
it never will until the race of blacks, | mean tAestralian blacks, are exterminated”
(South AustralianJune 8, 1849: 2F). The author, one John E. Hobiisng from Lake
Hamilton station (later taken over by Price Mauyicealled for settlers to punish the

1]

Aborigines themselves and claimed that the Aboegimre, “...continually prowling
about our stations, for the purpose of plunderimg) @assassinating our shepherds, and our
hut-keepers are never safeSouth Australian June 8, 1849: 2F). The sentiments
expressed in this letter show that the settlerthisi region certainly felt as if they were
under siege from the local Aboriginal populationttas time. It is significant that Lake

Hamilton would later be the head station from whibke Central Outstation run was

administered.

Alexander Tolmer, the policeman who led the sedochthe murderers of Beevor and
Eastone, wrote that “Captain Beevor and Mrs Easiare killed in a spirit of retaliation
for the death of natives” (Tolmer, 1972[1882]: 92-B was believed by Tolmer that
poisoned flour was placed in one of Mortlock’s hhys Patrick Dwyer, as bait for the
Aborigines who were frequently robbing it (Tolm&872[1882]: 94-5). Although Dwyer

“denied that he ever had any arsenic in the hut.Infi€gd searched the hut which he had
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formerly occupied, and found about a pound of acsenit, which the present hut keeper
(W. Light) informed me had been left there by Dwygrolmer, 1972[1882]: 94). The

ensuing trial of Dwyer was reported in tAeelaide Timeswhere it was described as a
“farce” and claimed that there was “not one tittleanything in the shape of evidence
against the prisoner’Adelaide TimesJuly 2, 1849: 3E). However, the fact that the
accused soon afterwards fled from Port Adelaida wressel bound for California leads
one to suspect that Tolmer may have been righisrbélief of Dwyer’s guilt (Tolmer,

1972[1882]: 98).

Around the same time as the murders of Beevor astibBe, Aborigines attacked one of
T.C. Horne’s huts on his run which bordered parMaoiftlock’s run on the latter’s north
western tip. However, the hut's two occupants wenable/unwilling to defend the
property, allowing the Aboriginal force to rob BRSA, GRG 26/6/1849/1404). Horne,
evidently enraged by this embarrassing defeat, idnetely launched a punitive party. On

“

finding the Aborigines, “...a fight took place, said have been commenced by the
natives, which resulted in the death of one natigenan and two men, the capture of two

and the flight of the rest” (SRSA, GRG 24/6/184%4%

Most of 1850 was relatively uneventful in regardsconflict in this region until early
November, when a pastoralist named Baird was kibgdAborigines, receiving ten
spears in his bodyA@elaide ObserverJan 1, 1851: 3C). A combined police/settler
punitive party found a “large body of natives” ingsession of about 700 sheep and in

their attack killed one man and wounded anotiele(aide Observerdan 1, 1851: 3C).
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The following year (1851) saw the killing of two thkeepers, Jinks and Crocker, at the
hands of the AboriginesSputh Australian RegisteApril 29, 1851: 2E), as well as the
wounding of hut keeper, William LighSputh Australian RegisteMay 27, 1851: 3A-

B). These attacks occurred on the east coast d¢hesula, possibly showing a shift in
conflict areas at this time. Another possibility tisat opportunities did not present
themselves for similar attacks on the west coasinguhis time. Indeed, large scale
sheep stealing and hut robbing continued on th¢ egast, with flour and pistols and 130
sheep being stolen on Pinkerton’s Lake Newlandinuseparate attacks (SRSA, GRG
24/6/1851/2278, GRG 24/6/1851/3144). The year 18St saw the north eastern Salt
Lake police station robbed, tigouth Australian Registaeporting that an Aborigine

called Coomba was charged with “robbing the Padizgion at Salt Creek, and for a

desperate attack upon Police constable Kenninggy(B¥, 1851: 3A).

Late 1851 marks a significant time in the futurstdiy of the site under investigation, as
it was the year Price Maurice took an intereshis tegion, buying Mortlock’s Sheringa
run (Cockburn, 1927: 231) and Vaux’'s Lake Hamiltan (Office of Roads and Crown
Support, Lease 134, July 1, 1851). It was from eéhass that Maurice would later
expand to take up the ‘Central’ run. The Aborigiredistance was a strong contributing
factor to the disposal of Mortlock’s run, sold widil livestock and improvements

included, for a paltry sum (Cockburn, 1927: 231).

Even during periods when no settlers were killegclisas most of 1850 and 1852),

Aboriginal sheep stealing, hut robbing and intintigla of station employees continued
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unabated (SRSA, GRG 24/6/1852/296 ¥4). On Septefiibéne Government resident of
the Eyre Peninsula reported that the Aboriginesew&rommitting thefts continually at
the huts of out-stations” (SRSA, GRG 24/6/1852/382ater that month two more west
coast shepherds were killed by Aborigines, one Maunt Misery on Maurice’s Lake
Hamilton run and the other on Pinkerton’s Lake Nawl run Adelaide Observer

November 2, 1852: 6A).

In April 1853 the Government Resident wrote withefeof how quiet the district was at
present (SRSA, GRG 24/6/1853/1066). However, hehstd to report the committal of
six Aborigines for trial for sheep stealing. Thexnenonth an incident occurred on the
actual site which would later become the Central. rlhe fact that a surveyor was
present may indicate that Maurice was already shgwmterest in this land. One of
Maurice’s overseers, having heard of the recerit thfesome sheep, rode towards the
first party of four Aborigines he met, forcing thémflee. He captured three, tying one’s
hands and beating the others “by way of frightenittem” (SRSA GRG
24/6/1853/1268). The fourth tried to hide, in albimit when the overseer dismounted
and approached, the former threw a spear at himyndiog him (SRSA, GRG
24/6/1853/1268). Maurice may have looked upon tiggessive actions of his employee
as possibly creating more animosity between therigbmal people who lived on the land
he was having surveyed. The overseer was finedPaumd for his aggressive actions
(SRSA, GRG 24/6/1853/1268). The fact that he wasghed at all was probably only

because of the surveyor’s testimony.
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The many Aboriginal raids reported in the year ptmthe construction of the site (late
1854-1855) show that Aboriginal resistance was atiive, even though their population
numbers must have been significantly lowered by time, due to disease, hunger and
violence. In December 1854 an east coast pastocdleed Symes, of Cheroroo run,
reported that the Aborigines had been “very trosdaee” in his neighbourhood, having
had his sheep and even one of his Aboriginal shephspeared (SRSA, GRG
24/6/1855/1579). This period also saw other shesg@srmounted against Maurice,
Symes and settler Peter Brown, as well as hut eggdest Bothwick and Symes (SRSA,
GRG 24/6/1855/1579 & GRG 24/6/1855/2547). In 185% @f Maurice’s Chinese
shepherds was assaulted by a sheep raiding pattyPeter Brown was killed during a
raid (SRSA, GRG 24/6/1855/2547). Four Aborigineseveonvicted of the murder of
Brown and executed at the deceased’s run at Fradeibour on the east coast in January
1856 (SRSA, GRG 24/6/1856/217), thus bringing @walogue of frontier conflict in this

region up to the point when the site was constdicte

As mentioned in passing above, during the perioBwbpean settlement of this region
some Aborigines were gradually employed by the qralsts as hut keepers and
shepherds on the stations. A table prepared in 18&3us that at the end of that year
there were eight pastoralists who employed 44 Ajioes between them (SRSA, GRG
24/6/1854/393). Price Maurice actually employed treatest number of them, 16,

presumably divided across his many runs in theidigSRSA, GRG 24/6/1854/393).
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Results and Interpretation

Fieldwork at this site took place on the -18" July 2005, the work was carried out by
the author and an assistant. As with all of theeo#ites, the structure was photographed
and scale plans made of it. It was not anticip#ited a large portion of the western wall
would have collapsed as it was, although it wasaaly known what it had previously
looked like thanks to the 1970 photograph (Figur23). A search was made of the
rubble of this collapsed section, which resultedhe discovery of the cement-covered
plug from the southernmost embrasure and piecethefshutter frame which, it is
believed, came from the central aperture, due éu tbcation in this section and their
shape. These pieces were reassembled on-site,dimg@va substantially complete
indication of the frame’s appearance and functiigyre 4.2.12). It appears to have been
hinged, and most probably included a pane of glalsspugh no remains of this glass
were found. No other evidence of the remaining esiles having shutters like this was

found.
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Figure 4.2.12. Reconstructed shutter frame from ceral aperture. The cut-outs of the inner frame
for the shutter’s hinges can be seen on the righhside the frame.

The finding of the aperture shutter in the rubki¢he small, central room is interesting,

as it would tie in with that room’s possible useaasedroom. One can appreciate how a
shutable embrasure would have been beneficialbedaoom to prevent cold breezes, as
well as providing an added sense of security anggy for the sleeping occupants. The

apertures in the other rooms evidently did not meqthe extra effort of installing

shutters. Suggesting that they were, perhapgedrboms.

As it was known from an undated photograph thatethence stood another stone
building to the south (Figure 4.2.6), the groundswespected in this area. Unfortunately
no evidence of this building was visible on theface. Due to the fact that the surface

here was almost entirely limestone, the demolidghelfling may have been built directly
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on top of it, making foundations unnecessary. Tioeee when the building was

demolished all traces of its walls were removed.als

Once plans were made of the Men’s Hut, it was jpdesgD extrapolate the arcs of fire

offered by the apertures. The results of this hoevé below in Figure 4.2.13.

-
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Figure 4.2.13. Plan showing arcs of fire provided yothe three apertures in the Men’s Hut, shown
extending out to an arbitrary distance of 25m. Darkgrey portion shows terrain able to be covered by
all three apertures simultaneously. Shown to theeft is an approximate reconstruction of the positia
and dimensions of the other structure which once ebd on the site.
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Evidence Supporting the Myth’s Veracity

The archival sources referred to above show thairi§ime-versus-settler conflict was
long-running and intense in the western Eyre Peténdloreover, the fact that all of the
incidents described above occurnedor to the construction of the Men’s Hut would
have given the region a (deserved) reputation &nd particularly dangerous. Thus, it
follows that a later settler, such as Maurice, mayl have come to the region with a

belief that it was necessary to take extra meagarpsotect his employees and property.

Apart from the reports which illustrate the preseaod magnitude of frontier conflict in
the region, as shown in the police and newspapeort® there is also a significant
amount of primary documentary evidence which shtvas the settlers did indeed feel
very threatened. These settler’'s feelings with m@gao the Aboriginal threat in the
region are also expressed in the police and newspaports of the time, the fear and
insecurity of the settlers beginning as soon ay #meived. A police report of 1848

contains an application from the settlers on thetar@ side of the Peninsula for the
establishment of a police post there, required wuthe “...unprotected state of their
flocks and the depredations committed by the natif@RSA, GRG 24/6/1848/659). The
men on the stations in the northwest of the Pefansere at this time “...in the greatest
state of alarm, afraid to tend their flocks alomewithout firearms, and frequent attacks
by the natives have been made on their sheep astd(BIRSA, GRG 24/6/1848/1692). If
there was any doubt as to the reality of the s&ttfear, an article in th8outh Australian

Registerstated that, “We are convinced the grounds ofralare most serious; the

dangers imminent...” (Aug 15, 1849: 2B). Not only h#te previous owners of
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Maurice’s runs experienced severe Aboriginal rasist, but Maurice himself also had
significant experience of it, both before arrivinghis region and after. Prior to taking an
interest in the Eyre Peninsula, Maurice had a raled Pekina, located about 273
kilometres north of Adelaide. Here, in two sepanatiels in late 1848, 460 sheep were

stolen by Aborigines (SRSA, GRG 24/6/1849/238).

The apertures of the structure under investigadi@neminently functional as embrasures
for firing through, and notwithstanding their sgiai sides, provide a very ample arc of
fire. As can be seen in Figure 4.2.13, they evere lthe very advantageous ability of
being able to cross-fire a significant area of gibgimultaneously. Their positions in the
centre of each of the three room’s western wallenl spaced along the exterior of the
building and easily accessible, demonstrate a thelight out defensive architectural
plan for the structure. The positioning of an emsbra in each room meant that an
occupant could keep an eye out to the rear of tildibg, as well as fire upon an attacker
regardless of whichever room he/she was in atithe.tThere are also no intervening
terrain features blocking the line of sight ance firom the embrasures, the terrain
surrounding the site being generally flat and ogeassland. The only major difference
likely between the appearance of the terrain nod ianthe 1850s is that there were

probably sheoaks and bushes scattered aroundsasbeéel by Eyre (1964[1845]: 189).

Evidence Opposing the Myth’s Veracity
There is really no strong evidence against thepnétation of this structure having been

built with defensive provisions in the form of erabures. The fact that this structure is
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believed to have been built ca 1856, at the tail ehthe Aboriginal resistance could,
however, be taken as evidence that it was not sapgeto build defensively at this stage.
However, resistancevas still continuing, albeit on a smaller scale, aisthime.
Furthermore, the builder could not have known tmatre violent raids wouldn’t be

launched upon the station by the Aborigines attang.

The second possible point that could be made aghiesnterpretation of the apertures as
embrasures for firing through is the fact that tlaeg not angled, as the ideal embrasure
should be. However, as suggested previously (insdwtion on Mount Bensoabove),
this may have been simply due to the inexperierfidaeobuilder or the fact that it was

more expedient to build them straight-sided wistdt making them quite functional.

Central Outstation — Conclusions

The myth states that the Men’s Hut was built wigthethsive architectural elements “as a
precaution against Aboriginal attack” (Baillie, B37134). Therefore, in order for the
myth to be interpreted as true, the structure wddde to be functional to fulfil its
intended defensive role, and there would have tatbeast a demonstralperceptionof

significant Aboriginal threat at the time of itsnsaruction.

The results of the archival research have shownhrtbbonly was there a very strong
perceptionof an Aboriginal threat to colonial settler’s ls/and property in this region at
the time, but that the threat was very real ands#t#er’s fears were quite justified. The

archaeology has also shown the Men’s Hut to haea bery suitable to fulfil its role of
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protecting the structure’s occupants from surpattack and allowing them to react to

such an attack with gunfire from a protective posit

The fact that only the rear (western) side of thelting was fortified still requires some
discussion. It may be significant that the surviagthm of 1884 shows that sheep yards
were located just west of the fortified dwellingdére 4.2.8). It is likely that the location
of these sheep yards dates from the same timeCiwatral Outstation was established.
Given that the main target for Aboriginal raiderasasheep, as shown in the archival
records, this would explain the positioning of easures on the side of the building
facing the sheep yards, and thus the most likelgcton from which an attack or sheep

raid was expected to come.
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Lizard Lodge (Adelaide, South Australia)

Figure 4.3.0 Lizard Lodge ca 1865. The coach-housan be seen in the centre of the photograph.
Courtesy of the Mortlock Library of South Australia na.

The Site

Lizard Lodge was the name of Major Thomas Shuldi@kkalloran’s country property
in the colony of South Australia (Bell, 1997: 4)a)dr O’Halloran was the first European
to settle at this site, which he did in 1839 - otfisee years after the colony’s foundation
(Bell, 1997: 4). The structure which forms the feaf investigation at this site is a
building known as ‘the coach-house’. The myth dtéatto this structure is that it was

embrasured as a precaution against Aboriginallatecrecorded in Dolling, 1981: 323).
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The Myth

The myth of the coach-house having been built fefledce against Aboriginal attack
appears in Alison Dolling’s local histofjhe History of Marion on the Stuf1981). The
myth appears in the form of a quote by Mrs Dora flaell, who was the wife of the first
commandant of the Remount Depot (a later incarnadiothe Lizard Lodge property)

and lived at the site from 1913. According to Mign@bell:

A well-stocked veterinary building was built besiddat was a coach-house,
where Major O’Halloran’s wife and children sometsreok refuge. It was loop-

holed as a precaution against Aboriginals... (Dollib@81: 323)

Unfortunately Mrs Campbell did not go on to say weheshe had obtained this
information. Also, the myth does not provide anytines for O’Halloran feeling the
need to build a defensive structure at his homdsteather, it appears to either take for
granted, or imply, that Aborigines were enough dlfirat in the area for O’Halloran to
take such measures. In fact, the wording of Mrs @aait's rendition of the myth implies
not only that Major O’Halloran’s wife and childreould have taken refuge in the coach-
house, but that they “sometimegid. Furthermore, by using the word ‘sometimes’, the
myth implies that O’Halloran’s wife and childrerotorefuge in the coach-house on more

than one occasion.
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Figure 4.3.1. Map showing location of Lizard Lodgesite.
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The site of Lizard Lodge lies approximately 17 kietres south of Adelaide, in the
suburb of O’Halloran Hill. The greater geographieadion in which the site lies is called
the Fleurieu Peninsula. The site lies within theurms of an ex-CSIRO property,
currently owned by the University of Adelaide apdded out to a tenant farmer. In 1877,
the property was taken over from the O’Halloranifgrby Thomas Saunders Porter and
became known as ‘Glenthorne’. The other architettteatures of the site which date
from the 19" century are the remains of a cold store, a cisémh a structure whose
function is unclear but is known as ‘the smokeho(sg. Bell, 1997: 1). Some features
of the cultural landscape of the site also appeardate from the period under
investigation here and are of significance (Figu@?2). The dating of these features was
determined by locating them in dated depictions doclmentary sources, as well as on
the basis of their construction techniques, thailtebf which will be described in more

detail below.
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Figure 4.3.2. Site plan of 19 century features present at the site of Lizard Lode homestead, April

2005.
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As mentioned above, the land on which the sitegated was once owned by the CSIRO
who used it for pastoral and agricultural resedraim 1946 (Bell, 1997: 8-9). As a result
there are many 3Dcentury buildings near the ®%entury site features. However,
considering that the site lies in the suburbss itery fortunate that the land in which it is
located has not yet been used for residential dpwent, thus preserving a sense of its

rural origins.

The Coach-house

0 SHOKNG

Figure 4.3.3. The western side of the coach-houskhe apertures are visible on either side of the
window, nearly half way between the window and theides of the building, as narrow vertical slots.

The coach-house is a building nearly 11m squagdan, built of stone rubble. It stands
on a slope, and has entrances on two storeys,awitft in the roof space. The building

has actually been built into the side of the itk hillside having been cut-out in the
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process. The roof has been replaced and other mndifications made since CSIRO
ownership (Bell, 1997: 10). These modificationssisnhof the interior walls of the upper
ground level having been covered with cladding, doers, which are probably 90
century replacements, and the addition of claddmghe lower ground level doors. This
was determined on the basis of visual inspectiaking into account the construction
techniqgues and materials used, such as the ashdatiting. The lower ground floor
contains a cellar which is accessed via a setanfsstOn either side of the stairwell is a
skillion which extends out approximately 3.5 metrése floor of the cellar is stone and
is probably the original floor, judging by the mi@és and construction techniques used,

as well as the fact that it appears quite worn wgé.

Figure 4.3.4. Northern side of coach-house, showirte single door on this side providing access to
the upper ground level.

The upper ground level has a single door on thtéhaor side (Figure 4.3.4) and a double

door on the southern side (Figure 4.3.20). In tlestern wall (Figure 4.3.3) is a central
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window, flanked on either side by a long, narrow blilt into the masonry. These
apertures widen on the interior. The eastern wagure 4.3.19) also has a pair of these
apertures opposite those in the western wall. Thpsetures measure between 57cm and
66cm long. The exterior width of the aperturespgpraximately 3.5cm, widening out to
approximately 23cm on the interior. The apertunes @ositioned approximately 1.2m
from the floor. In the centre of the eastern wallah open fireplace and a chimney. In
relatively modern times (i.e. the 2@entury), the apertures were bricked-up on the
interior and plastered over. In addition to thing tnterior of the eastern wall on the upper
ground level was covered with cladding, includihg fireplace. The upper ground level
floor is composed of floorboards, as is the flobthe loft which, owing to the absence of

evidence of a staircase, was probably accessellaider.

Other Structures

The other architectural evidence of Major O’Hall@saperiod of occupation comes in

the form of the ‘smokehouse’, the cistern and thld store. The ‘smokehouse’ is a long,
narrow building, 10m by 5m, and divided into twadeimal spaces, one long and narrow,
the other small and square, like a privy. Its fiortis not known. The most remarkable
feature is its two false chimneys. On both gabliethe smaller chamber are red brick
chimneys, which have probably given it the nameokehouse’. However, they are

purely decorative, as they have no flues and tieere evidence of a fireplace in the

building (Bell, 1997: 10). It is not known what pired this structure’s odd design. There
is also no keying-in of the stonework between #rgdr room and the smaller room. This

may be evidence that the two sections were constiwat different times. One theory is
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that the larger section was actually a coach-hoarse,its interior dimensions (2.2m by
6.2m) certainly appear to have been able to accatataaa coach or carriage (Smith, et
al., 2005, Vol.4: 28). By extension, it has als@mesuggested that the small adjoining
space was a livery or similar for storing equipmamdl tools (Smith, et al., 2005, Vol.4:
28). A light may have hung from the ornate ‘chimrs¢gcks’ and the broad shelf at the
rear of the larger chamber may have been for gocwaching/equestrian equipment
(Smith, et al., 2005, Vol.4: 28). This interpretatiof the above structure’s function is
quite plausible. As the 1851 dated illustrationg(fFe 4.3.9) shows, this structure was
built before the building commonly known as ‘theach-house’ today (that which forms
the focus of this investigation), as the latterlding is not depicted. Therefore it is

possible that the later coach-house was built amprovement on the earlier one.

Excavations carried out by Smith, Walshe, Bonell &ddock in 2004 (Smith et al.,
2005, Vol.4) discovered a slate slab floor to tbetks of the above structure. Smith,
Walshe, Bonell and Piddock interpreted this as eg@aarea for standing coaches or
horses ready to be shackled (Smith, et al., 20@b.4V28). However, the two pencil
drawings of Lizard Lodge dated to 1851 and 185peetively (Figures 5.3.9 & 5.3.10)
show that another small structure once stood andite. It therefore seems more likely
that the slate slab area is the remains of the tbdhis building. The function of this
latter building is unknown. However, its close groiy to the so-called ‘smokehouse’

suggests that its function may have been assoaidatedhis building.
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South of the coach-house there is a rectangulagrgnalind cistern about 5m by 4m in
plan. Its corrugated iron roof may be of"€entury date, judging by its heavily rusted
appearance. Overall, this structure is in quitsaaable condition. It has been fitted with
relatively modern iron water pipes, and is mentibbg both 1912 and 1946 valuers as a
functioning tank (Bell, 1997: 10). It has an archmukning on its eastern gable, and
ornamental barge boards on its western gablest hhs the remains of a decorative

painted colour scheme (Bell, 1997: 10).

The only other standing T9century structure is the cold store. This is a lkma
rectangular stone structure of almost exactly #mesdimensions as the cistern. It is dug
into the slope of the land so that it is possiblevalk into it from the west side, but only
the gable is visible from the east. The cold sieren very bad condition; its walls are
leaning, a very large olive tree has crushed tleé, rand the wooden lintel above the
doorway is in poor shape (Bell, 1997: 10). Althowgintainly of 18 century date, on the
basis of its construction techniques and materitls, possible that this structure was
built for the later Glenthorne house rather thamehrlier Lizard Lodge. It is not visible
in any of the depictions of Lizard Lodge, and tlael\ehomestead had other areas which
could have served as a cold store, such as thd-duwarse’s cellar and a similar-looking
building attached to the worker’s cottages via @eced way (Smith, et al., 2005, Vol.4:

28).
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Other Cultural Modifications of the Landscape

There are two artificially created level areas be site. These form an ‘L’ shape. One
runs east-west and measures approximately 35mbp2@m wide. The other runs north-

south and is approximately 45m by 15m. There ideawie that these were the site of the
original dwelling and servant’s quarters respetyiv®ther indications of the homestead

layout which survive in the cultural landscape @e® plantings, fencelines, a dam and

the position of the road.

Site History

Figure 4.3.5. Major Thomas Shuldham O’Halloran. Fran Dolling, 1981: 51.
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The land on which the site is located was occuperg early in the process of European
settlement in South Australia. The first two seasioof land were granted to Major
Thomas Shuldham O’Halloran in December 1839 andhallremaining land was taken
up by 1847 (Bell, 1997: 4). This process spannddta of fourteen years. After the
initial purchase in 1839, two more sections wekemaup in 1840, one each in 1845 and
1847, and in 1853 he bought another from Vice-Adimitdward Hawker, an absentee
landlord living in Hampshire, who had taken up akjaeent section in 1840 (he was
probably a family friend of the O’Hallorans [Bell997: 4]). By 1853 O’Halloran had
consolidated all the land of the present Glenthdfiedd Station under his ownership
(Bell, 1997: 4). O’Halloran had 327 acres undeipdoetween 1840-1843, rising to 2,063

between 1844-1858 (Walshe, 1996: 3).

O’Halloran was developing the land only a montteatrriving in the colony, and was
actually living on it four months later, long bedone had legal title to it. O’Halloran kept
a journal, and on 17 April 1839 he recorded: “Dinadarge house for the first time,
Govr Gawler, Sturt &c being present” (Mortlock L#sy PRG 206/1). This was eight
months before he was officially granted the land vamch the dwelling stood, but
someone who could entertain the Governor and AsgisCommissioner of Lands at

dinner probably had little fear of having his apption refused (Bell, 1997: 4).

O’Halloran called his homestead Lizard Lodge. Taena was probably in use from the

time the house was built, for when a son was borh840, O’Halloran recorded in his

journal: “Henry born at Lizard Lodge” (Mortlock Liary PRG 206/1). At the time of
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residing at Lizard Lodge (1839-1870), the O’Halloréamily consisted of Thomas

Shuldham O’Halloran, his wife, Jane, and their ¢hgens.

Little is known about the developments on the prigp&he “large house” was probably
two prefabricated Manning timber houses which Oféfain, like many early colonists,
had shipped out with him from London. His journksicareferred to a “cottage” which the
family had occupied earlier (Mortlock Library PR®&1). By January 1839 a well had
been dug, and a kiln was firing lime for mortar.Habruary 1839 there was half an acre
ploughed, and by June 1839, an acre had been feheeg Franklin visited Lizard
Lodge at the end of 1840 and saw “fine-looking whegaowing and 300 acres fenced
(Lady Franklin’s Diary, 1952[1840]: 44). It may hebeen during O’Halloran’s period of

occupation that the first of two dams on the progpesas created (Walshe, 1996: 3).

O’Halloran was one of the first farmers to use Ridley stripper for wheat harvesting.
He also experimented with Mediterranean crops:laet@d grape vines and sent bottles
of wine to London by 1852, and there are very ealilye trees near the homestead site.
In 1844 he made the journal entry: “Flour Mill finssed” (Mortlock Library PRG 206/1).

It is unknown where this mill was located or whatdoked like. It is possible that
O’Halloran may have been referring to the newlyragzk flour mill in the township of

Noarlunga, some nine miles to the south of Lizasdde (Smith, et al., 2005, Vol.4: 18).

O’Halloran Hill was originally part of the Distric€ouncil of Brighton. This was one of

the earliest councils to be formed in South Augtralihich is fortunate, since it means
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that we have access to one of the earliest raessisent books in the state, covering
Lizard Lodge. The District Council of Brighton w&srmed in September 1853, T.S.
O’Halloran being one of the first councillors (Dalj, 1981: 68). The first rate
assessment took place in February of the followpegr (1854). Unfortunately, the
description of O’Halloran’s property in this firassessment is too brief to provide much

information as to the infrastructure present attdzlodge at this time. It simply lists:

Dwelling house, offices and homestead (MRG36/40000

The following year’'s assessment is, however, negmificant as it lists all of the
improvements present at the time. According to @abesessment for April 1855, Lizard

Lodge was comprised of:

411 acres of land fenced. Part arable and parugastith dwelling house,
detached offices, outbuildings, barn, stables, ajias, labourer’'s cottages,

vineyard, orchards and garden (MRG36/4/00000).

There is some very good pictorial documentatiothefappearance of Lizard Lodge in its
early decades. In the O’Halloran papers in the Mokt Library there are two small

pencil drawings from the 1850s (Figures 5.3.9 & B3 One, dated 1851, shows four
buildings and some fenced paddocks. The homesssadant’s quarters and another
building have all been demolished since, but abuilding in the drawing still stands as

a ruin (the ‘smokehouse’). Another drawing, dat883, clearly shows the coach-house,
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which is still intact today. From this evidencecdan be deduced that the coach-house
must have been built sometime between 1851 and. RRBthermore, there appears to be
evidence in the earlier (1851) drawing that thecbelaouse was built closer to the early
side of this date range. This comes in the forna éénced-off area located in the very
position where the coach-house was later to stamdl,of slightly larger dimensions than
the later coach-house. Inside this area is anutaglg-shaped black area. This black area,
therefore, may represent the cutting-away of tlaat pf the hillside in order to build the
coach-house. The fence around it probably servedktoarcate it as a construction site
and as a safety barrier to prevent people and ifran falling into the excavation.
Therefore, since there is evidence that constmatiothe coach-house had commenced
by 1851, it is likely that the building was com@étwithin a year or so of the sketch,
which would date it to 1851-1852. A third pencikesth of Lizard Lodge is held by the
South Australian Art Gallery. This sketch was magieEdward Frome and is dated to ca
1840s. This sketch clearly shows that the Lizarddeodwelling was built upon a walled

embankment (Figure 4.3.6).
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Figure 4.3.6. Lizard Lodge. A pencil sketch by Coleel Charles Frome, ca 1840s. From Smith, et al,
2005: 16.

The Mortlock Library of South Australiana holds laopograph dated 1865 (Figure 4.3.0)
which shows a very similar view of the building tgmars later: a young fruit orchard is
visible in the foreground, and workers, one of whappears to be Aboriginal, are
clearing felled trees from the creek with a homsam (Bell, 1997: 5). There is also a
photograph of the Lizard Lodge dwelling dated tdl880 (Figure 4.3.7). This particular
photograph is significant because it appears tovahat the dwelling was indeed built
upon an earthwork platform, apparently the same whieh can still be seen in the

cultural landscape today.
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Figure 4.3.7. Lizard Lodge dwelling. This photograp, dated to ca 1880, was taken from the south
facing north. The caption that comes with the photgraph states that the interior was imported in
sections from England, and remained in a good statef preservation for nearly 100 years, until
destroyed by fire. Courtesy of the Morlock Library of South Australiana.

Figure 4.3.8. The earthwork platform on which the oiginal dwelling may have stood, facing north.
Although originally probably much higher, today it still stands ca 150cm high at its western end.
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Figure 4.3.9. Pencil drawing of Lizard Lodge. Thisillustration is dated 1851 and shows the
homestead prior to the construction of the coach-hgse. It also shows other contemporary structures
and landscape. Courtesy of the Mortlock Library ofSouth Australiana.

Figure 4.3.10. Another pencil drawing of Lizard Lodye, this one dated 1855. This illustration shows
the newly-built coach-house, as well as many of thather structures that stood on the site. Courtesy
of the Mortlock Library of South Australiana.
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It appears that many of the Lizard Lodge-era bogdiwere still standing when the army
took over the property in 1913 (Bell, 1997: 33)id&nce for this can be seen in the plans
of the Remount Depot made by the army during tine tihey had the land and the list of
improvements made in 1946 when it was being solth¢ocCSIR (later the CSIRO). The
latter list of improvements is particularly helpfl that it appears to indicate the pre-
army (and thus probably Lizard Lodge-era) infrasiee present on the property by
designating it as ‘old’. These structures alsoadiffom the rest of those on the site in that
they are made of stone, whereas the army seenavéoluilt most of its structures out of

wood and iron. The improvements listed by the aasjold’ consisted of an:

Old stone stable with loft, galvanised iron gahied.

Old stone lean-to, attached horse boxes.

Old stone barn, galvanised iron gabled roof.

Old stone lean-to attached.

Old stone lean-to attached.

Old stone coach house, one loft and one cellaledadnd lean-to galvanised iron

roof (National Archives. Series A877, Item CL2382B).

Aside from the coach-house which still stands,&heve tells us that in 1946 there still
stood an early stone stable with gabled roof, doil lean-to with horse boxes attached,
and an early stone barn with gabled roof and tvem®’s attached. By comparing the
early depictions of Lizard Lodge (Figures 4.3.03.4, 4.3.7, 4.3.9, 4.3.10) and the

photograph of a stone stable being demolished (€igiB.13), with the plans of the site
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made by the army (Figure 4.3.11), it is possiblectmfidently identify the precise

position and dimensions of the stable and barrmexfeo above.
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Figure 4.3.11. Plan of part of the Army Remount Dept at Glenthorne, 1925. The position and
dimensions of the Lizard-Lodge stables and barn cabe seen just to the left (north) of the coach-
house, shaded grey. The remainder of the structureshown are of a later date. Scale: 200ft to 1 inch.
National Archives, Adelaide.

In 2004, an archaeological excavation was carrigdab the site of Lizard Lodge by Dr
Keryn Walshe and Dr Pam Smith of the Flinders Ursig Archaeology Department, as

part of the Hills Face Zone Project. The princigiah of the project was:

...to locate the site of Glenthorne House. Subsideanys were to locate the site
of Lizard Lodge and to record other unpredictedhaeological features (Smith, et

al. 2005, Vol .4: 25).
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The excavation located traces of the 1879 Glenthblouse and the earlier Lizard Lodge
dwelling. This made it possible to accurately aalibbly reconstruct most of the layout

of O’Halloran’s homestead (Figure 4.3.17).

When O’Halloran died in 1870, the property was nitkee by his eldest son, Thomas
Joseph Shuldham O’Halloran. He retained it for seyears, and then sold the land to
Thomas Saunders Porter, who renamed it GlenthosteeE Little is known of Porter’s
occupancy. He apparently carried on the O’Hallosdreat and mixed farming practice,
and also continued in the role of local squire, tloe family donated a stained glass
memorial window to Christ Church nearby (Bell, 198Y. Porter’s notable contribution
to the history of the Lizard Lodge site was the starction of a large, three-storeyed
house built in 1879 (Figure 4.3.1@olling, 1981: 321, 324). It was once believedttha
this house was built next to O’Halloran’s origiriakard Lodge dwelling, which could
apparently be seen in a photograph dated to 1930 (i Dolling, 1981: 324) (Figure
4.3.12). In 1932 Porter’s house was destroyed tey but O’Halloran’s Lizard Lodge
was said to have been left untouched (Dolling, 1984). However, the subsequent
excavation at the site by Smith, et al. (2005) Baswn that the single storeyed,
corrugated iron-roofed building shown in this plgyaph (Figure 4.3.12)vas not the
Lizard Lodge dwelling, but part of O’Halloran’s wars’ cottages (Smith, et al. 2005,
Vol.4: 28). Glenthorne House was therefore founchave been built over the site of

Lizard Lodge.
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Figure 4.3.12. ‘Glenthorne House’, built by ThomasPorter over the site of the Lizard Lodge
Dwelling in 1879. The low building at lower right was once thought to have been O’Halloran’s
dwelling but was in fact part of his worker’s cotteges. Photograph taken in 1930 (From Dolling,
1981: 324).

In 1913, Glenthorne was acquired by the CommonWwealt Australia for use as a
Remount Depot for the Department of Defence. Duthwegy First World War the depot
trained horses which were sent to replace lossesseas (Walshe, 1996: 3). At this time

a second dam was constructed on the property (\&al€96: 3).

In November 1946 Glenthorne was sold to the CSIRu(Cil for Scientific and
Industrial Research, later known as the CSIRO (Conwealth Scientific and Industrial
Research Organisation) for use as a field statioeeems that most of the remaining

structures of Lizard Lodge were demolished at timge (Walshe, 1996: 3). There is a
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photograph from the CSIRO which shows what appt&aise a large stable with a loft
being demolished to make way for a laboratory (Fég#.3.13). This stable was most
likely from O’Halloran’s period, as it appears tHater farmers did not construct any
substantial outbuildings but simply continued tce uke facilities that were already

available (Bell, 1997: 20).

Figure 4.3.13. Lizard Lodge-era stables being demished around 1946. From Bell (1997: 26).

Today there is a substantial complex of moderndingls near the site of the original
homestead. These mostly date from the CSIR and C3I&iod. There is a metalled
private road running through the property from Ma&droad to past the coach-house
where it becomes a dirt road. This road may foltbe line of the original road dating

from O’Halloran’s time (Walshe, Smith, Bonell & Ridck, 2005: 32).
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The Indigenous Inhabitants

The land on which T.S. O’Halloran’s property ‘Lidatodge’ was located traditionally

belonged to the Kaurna language group (Horton, Ra@wn to the early Europeans as
the ‘Adelaide tribe.” There were several placessighificance to the Kaurna people
around the site. For example, some kilometresastuth west of the site is Ochre Cove,
to the west is Hallett Cove and to the north of glte is an area traditionally known as
Warreparinga. These places still hold significagithge value to the Kaurna community
(Walshe, 1996: 2). In Hallett Cove, a few kilomstte the west of Lizard Lodge, is the
site of a very large and significant Aboriginal qang ground (Walshe, 1996: 2).

Furthermore, the numerous springs that can be falodg the Fleurieu Peninsula
represent events in the Tjirbruke Dreaming Trailiolhis of significant cultural

importance to the Kaurna community (Walshe, 1996: 2

Warreparinga is an area of great cultural signifteato the local Aboriginal people.
Warreparinga refers to the area around the StugrRThis was an important fishing and
hunting area for the Aborigines, as well as a lbugraund (Wood, 1998: 8). With its
seasonal patterns in the animal, bird and plantdydrhelped determine the Aboriginal
people’s seasonal movements (Wood, 1998: 4-5).afba around Warreparinga was the
source of shelter, clothing and materials for toaking (Wood, 1998: 20). As part of
their hunter-gatherer way of life, the Kaurna mowatahg accustomed routes from their
main camp, the area on which Adelaide now stafitisge camping sites along the Sturt
River have been identified as well as the large anklallett Cove (Dolling, 1981: 3).

Warreparinga was described by William Everard iB88s a chain of freshwater lagoons
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overgrown with flags and bulrushes about eight fegh and abounding in wild ducks
(Mortlock Library, PRG 208/1). Here the Aboriginéspped swans, pelicans, teal,
pigeons, quail and parakeets, as well as humeishgDolling, 1981: 3). However, in
summer the Sturt silted over and the lagoons deddccording to an early settler, Mary
Thomas, there was sometimes scarcely enough watsr #r drinking (Mortlock
Library, 1160/3: 49). At the end of summer the Agimres practiced ‘fire-stick farming’,
whereby scrub fires were lit. These fires were glesil to encourage the growth of tender
plant life and thus entice game into the area (Foh@69: 224-228). More importantly in
terms of the focus of this thesis, these fires glee the settlers great cause for alarm as
they endangered their property (SRSA, GRG 24/6/M8%B). Groups of Aborigines
were evidently still frequenting the traditionalnua site at Warreparinga in the late"19
century and early 2Dcentury (Wood, 1998: 6), as one long-time residgnthe area

recorded in the 1950s:

As a child | remember the blacks (as we called Jheoming for their issue of
blankets from the government. They camped on thet RRiver until they
received their supply. At the time when my grangéatcame out, the Aborigines
roamed the hills and plains surrounding the disttienyself on my property on
the Sturt River, unearthed skeletons of the natasit the year 1905 (Quoted in

Dolling, 1981: 5).

The area’s use as an Aboriginal burial ground wss demonstrated in 1925, when one

local farmer uncovered Aboriginal bones while ploung, as well as in the 1940s when
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more bones were found (Edwards, 1964: 184-188thE&unore, there is early colonial
documentary evidence of this area’s use as a lyneaind. Dr Handasyde Duncan, in his
diary for 1839-1842, refers to a certain mound Wwhproduced vigorous crops of
vegetables. Duncan discovered that after it haeh bemed up a few times the mound
proved to be an Aboriginal burial ground (Mortlotlrary, PRG 532/3: Entry for 19

April, 1841 and PRG 532/5: 2). Further Aboriginakrials were found at this site in 1964
and 1972 (Wood, 1998: 8). One can only imaginedis&ress it would have caused the
local Aboriginal people, having the remains of threiatives dug up by the settlers and

desecrating their burial grounds.

Scores of artefacts and flakes have been colldobead the Sturt River camp site, all of
them from land disturbed by cultivation over a pdrof nearly 35 years (Dolling, 1981:
5). Archaeological surveys and small scale excamatin 1964, 1972, 1994, 1995 and
1998 also found many stone artefacts (Wood, 1998)8This area of the Sturt River is
believed to have been only one of many which hawveesbeen destroyed by suburban
development, making it too late to identify anyetisites (Edwards, 1964: 184-188). A
minor tributary of the Sturt River flows throughetiizard Lodge property. This would
have provided a sufficient variety and quantity fobd and water for small groups

travelling through (Walshe, 1996: 2).

Dolling claims that Aboriginal corroborees werefpemed on the Lizard Lodge property

during O’Halloran’s occupancy. These corroboreesevsaid to have been held when

South Coast Aborigines were on their way home frelaide after collecting a fresh
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supply of blankets and rations (Dolling, 1981:16-1Tnfortunately, is it impossible to
know whether the corroborees were held on O’Hatigraroperty because this was the
traditional site for them, or because other landensnwould not tolerate it on their
properties. Admittedly, it has been impossible ubstantiate Dolling’s claims about the
corroborees with independent supporting evidencelliny also claims that the
Aboriginal track used by Aborigines travelling besm Encounter Bay and Adelaide lay
just west of the O’Halloran property (Figure 4.3.1@olling, 1981: 17 [footnote], 105

[caption to photograph]).

Figure 4.3.14. O'Halloran Hill farmland about 1945.The photograph was taken from the north west
looking south east. The row of almond trees on theght is said to mark part of the track once used
by Aborigines between Encounter Bay and Adelaide.ém Dolling, 1981: 105.
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There is oral history evidence of another Aborigirempsite being located very close to
O’Halloran’s property. This information comes frdhre reminiscences of a Mr Richard
Candy, who lived and worked in O’Halloran Hill frothe 1920s to the 1980s (Candy,
2005: pers. comm.). As a youth, he worked in pastrip with a much older local farmer
named Wickham, who told him that the Aboriginesdusecamp in a particular part of a
valley adjacent to O’Halloran’s property on theteas side (Candy, pers. comm. 2005).
According to Mr Candy, Mr Wickham did not expligitbtate that hg@ersonallyrecalled
Aborigines camping there, but the former got theriession from Wickham that he had.
Interestingly, Mr Candy believes that the 1865 plgaiph (Figure 4.3.0) was donated to
the Mortlock Library of South Australiana by Mr Witam’s family. Mr Candy also
believes that Mr Wickham himself was at one timeeanployee of O’Halloran’s at
Lizard Lodge, which explains how he came into pssiesm of the photograph (Candy,

pers. comm. 2005).

In September 1996 the CSIRO commissioned an AbigHeritage Survey of
Glenthorne to determine what, if any, Aboriginaiesiof archaeological interest were
present (Walshe, 1996). No Aboriginal heritagessitere identified during the ground
survey, the methodology of which consisted of fieldlking. However, the reasons for
the lack of sites identified was in part due to thet that the ground has been highly
disturbed from long historic use of the propertd éimat the ground was covered in dense

vegetation, making visual identification impossifi@alshe, 1996: Abstract).
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Although there is no evidence of any direct Aboraithreat to Lizard Lodge, there
primary evidence of Aboriginal threats against p@ans in the vicinity. O’Halloran
himself, as Police Commissioner at the time, wnotene of his quarterly reports in 1843
that, “...cases also have been reported of [the Abws] using violence towards
unprotected females living in the outskirts of tieevn, from whose fears they have
extracted provisions on several occasions” (SRSR(G®X4/6/1843/474). Dolling also
records that the house of farmer Thomas Dyke, éscabout seven kilometres north of
Lizard Lodge was ‘besieged’ by Aborigines demandiongr and other rations, and that
in 1844, a party of 30 to 40 Aborigines, en rowtdhcounter Bay, threatened women in

a farmhouse if they refused to hand over flour (ipg) 1981: 5 [footnote], 133).

Since these Aboriginal groups were travelling bemvEncounter Bay and Adelaide, they
would have been the same people who passed by IOtal@ks property. O’Halloran
would no doubt have realised that these Aborigowesd carry out just such a raid, if not
one more violent, on his own homestead if they aasiThese actions on the part of the
Aborigines appear to indicate that they were sbbfbod, a situation which was to grow
ever more desperate as time progressed, and wlaghhave led O’Halloran to fear that
they would adopt even more aggressive measuresotune it. As Commissioner of
Police until 1843, O’Halloran was almost constarttaring about Aboriginal attacks
against settlers. For example, O’Halloran beganrepert on the Aborigines in 1842 by
writing, “In most directions during the last threeonths frequent reports have been

received by the Commissioner relative to the mwwderd outrages committed by the

199



Aborigines” (SRSA, GRG 24/6/1842/471). This cong&duin 1843, when he reported

further Aboriginal attacks upon huts and stati@fSRSA, GRG 24/6/1843/474).

More significantly, an analysis of T.S. O’Hallorarcharacter and history shows that he
was just the sort of man who could be expecteduitd ka fortified structure on his
homestead. Major O’Halloran was a military man. Timpression one gets from his
writings and history show that he applied a militaense of discipline and planning to all
aspects of his life. O’Halloran was born into a ilgnwith a long history of military
service (his father was Major-General Sir JosepHaDoran [Bell, 1997: 4]). His entire
life had been spent either in military servicegoowing up in a military household (Bell,
1997: 4). He entered a military college at age exteyoined the army at sixteen, and
spent the next twenty years as a military offieeCiolonial India, as well as three years
as an officer in England (Bell, 1997: 4). When hvad in South Australia there was no
army for him to serve, so he did the next bestgrand became the Commissioner of
Police in 1839 (Bell, 1997: 5). One can therefon@gine his excitement when, in 1840,
the Colony decided to form a militia. Of course,Halloran became the Major

Commandant (Bell, 1997: 5).

Although many colonists of the time believed tha¢ indigenous people were fellow
citizens of the Colony and should be treated ab,sti@ppears that O’Halloran did not
accept this concept. In matters relating to the rijiges, he frequently displayed an

inability to appreciate the civil function of thelge department (Clyne, 1981: 92), or to
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separate police procedures from military procedutesthe words of Robert Clyne

(1981):

It would appear from his subsequent actions as Gegiomer of Police that he
was a frustrated soldier. The expeditions which either led, organised or
proposed, were military campaigns against a knomeng. Martial belligerency

during his administration of the police force wdten tempered or disguised, but
was nevertheless apparent in his dealings withbtesome natives (Clyne, 1981

92).

O’Halloran had a great deal of first- and secondeéhexperience of frontier conflict in

South Australia. He is most infamous for his pwaitexpedition against the Milmenrura
clan of the Coorong in 1840, following thidaria massacre. This expedition was
launched in response to the killing of some twoestoEuropean shipwreck survivors by
members of the aforementioned clan. O’Halloran waered to identify, if possible, an

arbitrary number of the murderers (in the eveng)tand hang them on the spot (SRSA,
5/83). These events caused a great deal of comggwees many felt it an abuse of the law

to enact summary punishment on people who weraieally subjects of Her Majesty.

The next major ‘campaign’ (a word O’Halloran mayveaapproved of) carried out
against the Aborigines by O’Halloran took placeApril 1841. This time the ‘enemy’
were the Maraura people of the upper Murray distriear Lake Victoria (Foster, et al.

2001: 29). O’'Halloran and his combined volunteed g@olice contingent were sent to
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recover 5000 sheep and 800 head of cattle dispdrgeah Aboriginal attack on an
overlanding party. One European had also beerdidiel another wounded in the attack.
Although the official function of the expedition waprimarily peace-keeping,
O’Halloran’s journal reveals his expectation andicpation of a punitive expedition

(Foster, et al. 2001: 30):

| think it possible that [the Natives] may dispuater passage...should this prove
the case | consider that | should be fully justifley every law human & divine in
forcing my way through...l shall be careful not to e aggressor in any
way...tho’ the punishment ought to be severe to primvéhem our power...|
think that a severe lesson to this fierce tribe ogreatly conduce to the

preservation of life hereafter (SRSA, GRG 5/81).

However, due to Governor Gawler’s recall to Londamd much to O’Halloran’s dismay,

the expedition was ordered to return to Adelaidéoigeany action had taken place.
O’Halloran remarked, “It is with extreme pain amdret that | have been forced to return
back to Adelaide when within 50 miles of the pladgere Inman’s Party were attacked
but | have no other alternative as an old soldiantto obey His Excy’s orders” (SRSA,

GRG 5/81). O'Halloran’s mindset as a military mam clearly be seen.
O’Halloran’s next expedition against the Murray Allgines took place at the end of May

1841. The new Governor, Grey, authorised O’Halldtamount an expedition to recover

sheep that had been scattered during another Abalrigttack on an overlanding party,
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as well as to apprehend Aboriginal suspects antgkhem to Adelaide (Clyne, 1981:
101). The party numbered 68, being composed ofntekrs and police. Grey, being
aware of O’Halloran’s tendency to turn such expeds into military campaigns, gave
clear orders that firearms would only be sanctioimedself defence and sent along
Moorehouse, the Protector of Aborigines, to furtbenstrain him (Clyne, 1981: 101).
However, the objectives of the expedition were mett. The Murray Aborigines fled

before the party so no prisoners or hostages cbaldaken. During this expedition
O’Halloran’s party did, however, meet with anotharerland party who had been
attacked near the Rufus River and had four of thigteen members killed (Clyne, 1981:
102). O’Halloran therefore knew full well the Abgimes’ capability for violence if they

wished to use it. He would have carried this knalgke with him back to Lizard Lodge

where traditional-living Aborigines were also prese

O’Halloran’s tendency to turn every expedition agaithe Aborigines into a military
operation ironically caused him to miss out on bepart of the expedition that actually
crushed the Murray Aborigines’ resistance. In i8¢1, Governor Grey ordered another
expedition to the territory of the Maraura. Thisi¢i the objective was to meet up with
another overlanding party on its way to the colang ensure its safe passage through the
troubled region (Clyne, 1981: 104). O’'Halloran exaged a well planned military-style

campaign against a known enemy (Clyne, 1981: 1 )wrote to Grey that:

To ensure with certainty the success of an Expedgent to punish or capture the

Blacks, it will be absolutely necessary to send aa@buple of Whale Boats, but
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likewise two strong mounted parties on either sifithe river...preparation ought
to be made for a Campaign of several months; foudh both sides of the River
can then be scoured; the natives have still innablercreeks, lagoons, and scrub
to hide in, and where it will require much time gpatience to find them, unless

they are willing to be seen (Clyne, 1981: 104).

Governor Grey would not agree to O’Halloran’s pl@he expedition, consisting of Sub-
Inspector Shaw, one sergeant and ten foot policewédre made redundant by the police
force, departed without the Major. The result af tliescue’ expedition was a battle
between the colonists and the Aborigines in whicleast thirty Aborigines were killed
and only one colonist wounded (Clyne, 1981: 106keAthis, there were no more

concerted Aboriginal attacks upon overlanding patti

The next major ‘front’ in the South Australian ftar wars occurred in the Port Lincoln
district. O’Halloran was again at the forefront operations against the Indigenous
people. In November 1842 a party of mounted policeler the command of O’Halloran,
were despatched to Port Lincoln. They relieved X rfrom the British 98 Infantry
Regiment, under Lieutenant Hugonin, who had beam $e& crush the Aborignal
resistance that had been occurring in the area.al@tdn wrote that he had been

instructed to:
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...treat the blacks if armed and likely to resistl agould any hostile party that
was resisting the law, and that | should be fullgtified in becoming the

aggressor in such a case (Bull, 1972[1884]: 269).

O’Halloran’s party met with limited success, makiogly two arrests (Charter, 1989:
20). He was denied the battle he obviously hopedTioe mounted police expedition was
essentially involved in a ‘mopping up’ exerciseg tmain ‘pacifying’ of the Aborigines

having been accomplished by thé"@egiment (Charter, 1989: 20).

The previous accounts of Major O’Halloran’s frontaerations against the Aborigines
serve to illustrate the amount of conflict O’Hallarexperienced during his early years in
the colony. It is only natural to suppose that sticst-hand experiences would have
influenced his opinion of the South Australian Algores, and not in a positive way.
Rather, such experiences may well have made hitrusiil of them. As a result of
these experiences, O’Halloran would have been atdseliever in the ‘treacherous
natives’, an attitude common amongst settlers wlaa lexperienced Aboriginal
resistance, even though they may not have been tablaterpret it as resistance.
O’Halloran’s writings and actions also show thathael a very military mindset. Such a
mindset, coupled with a healthy distrust of the Adioes, makes him the ideal type of
character who would wish to build a fortified stiwre on his property. After all, when a

military man feels his position is at risk, he fies it.
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Results and Interpretation

Fieldwork at the site of Lizard Lodge was carried over a period of four days, from the
29"to the 3% March 2005, and on thé"5\pril 2005. The myth associated with this site
is that the angled apertures in the eastern antemewalls of the coach-house were in
fact embrasures (i.e. as described in Dolling [19%43]). Therefore, the aim of the
fieldwork was to record as much physical informatas possible which would allow this

myth to be tested.

The actual fieldwork mainly comprised photographthg remaining Lizard Lodge-era
features of the site, as well as making measuradidgs of the remaining Lizard Lodge-
era structures. Special attention was paid to daelt-house, since it was the focus of the
investigation. These structures consisted of treclednouse, ‘smokehouse’, cistern and
cold store. A site survey was also undertaken. Ehiwey took in the position of the
remaining Lizard Lodge-era structures, as wellhasposition and dimensions of the two
earthwork platforms which exist at the site. Thisswiecessary in order to reconstruct a

plan of the layout of the homestead at the timectteeh-house was built.

As mentioned previously, at some later time irhittory the apertures were blocked up
from the interior. This was done by bricking them and then plastering over the area.
Since the apertures were the most important featiutlee structure being investigated, it
was necessary to determine exactly what theirralgiimensions were prior to this. This
was accomplished by the following means: The negstern embrasure was chosen to

represent the others for the purposes of detergithi@ original dimensions, as on visual
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inspection they all appear to be alike. A ruler ytaced horizontally into the exterior
opening of the aperture in order to determine gatldto the bricks which blocked it off.
Since the thickness of the walls was known fromglam, it was possible to extrapolate
the thickness of the blocking brickwork and thus driginal depth of the aperture. The
angle of the apertures’ sides was then simply noetd to where they would have opened

out on the interior wall (Figure 4.3.15).

Hearth

5m

Figure 4.3.15. Plan of the upper ground floor of te coach-house, showing the two entrances, window,
and position and dimensions of apertures.

In order for embrasures to be functional, they niuiét several criteria. They need to be

easily accessible to the defender, they need todaged at a height above ground which
permits a relatively comfortable shooting positimnbe adopted, and they need to be
wide enough at their narrowest to allow the mumrdla firearm to be placed through. The

apertures in the Lizard Lodge coach-house are ddcabout 1.25m from the interior
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floor. This places them as a very convenient hetigtttugh which to fire a weapon. They
are also easily accessible to the defender, then they are located in being open and
without dividing walls. At first sight the apertwdn the coach-house appear to be
extremely narrow on the exterior. The width of #ypertures at their narrowest actually
averages about 3.5cm, making them capable of acoolaiing a wide range of firearms

including both longarms and pistols.
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Figure 4.3.16. Sectional elevation of the coach-hse showing the interior of the upper-ground level
room and loft, facing north.

Another crucial factor in determining the functiittaof the coach-house as a defensive
structure is the fields of fire offered by its ajpees. Since terrain and other structures can
affect fields of fire by obstructing them, it isaessary to analyse the structure in question

in the context of its original environment (i.e. iasvas at the time of its construction).
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Figure 4.3.16hows the fields of fire offered by the Lizard Ledgpach-house in relation

to the reconstruction of the homestead site ca.1852

Figure 4.3.17. Reconstruction of Lizard Lodge homeead at the time of the completion of the coach-
house (ca 1852). The arcs of fire offered by the @ch-house’s apertures are shown shaded grey. The
arcs have been extended out to 100m, this being theaximum effective range of the type of firearms
it is believed would have been used at the timedi.Smoothbore longarms).

A different interpretation of the Lizard Lodge cbatouse myth, one that denies its
having been built for defence can be found in BE997). He deals with the issue of the

myth thus:

Much has been made of the tall narrow aperturethéngranary walls, Dora

Campbell believing the building was “loop-holed as precaution against
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Aboriginals”, but the openings are actually theditianal ventilating apertures
used in English granary buildings. They are deslgse that bulk grain will not
run out of them. The coach-house was built by agli&m builder who simply

applied his normal barn-building skills in a neweganment (Bell, 1997: 10).

In the above, Bell refers to the coach-house asgttamary’. Bell's interpretation of this
structure as a granary supports his argument agamseracity of the defensive myth by
providing a different interpretation of the functiof the narrow apertures in its walls. In
his 1997 report, Bell refers to the structure uni@estigation here variously as “the
coachhouse”, a “granary” and as having been bik& & barn, all within the same
paragraph (e.g. Bell, 1997: 10). Although confulingritten, it appears that the point
Bell is attempting to make in his interpretationtlo§ structure is that the coach-house is
actually a typical English bank barn. He referBroinskill's (1982) Traditional Farm

Buildings of Britain explaining his interpretation of the coach-hotlnes:

Its design is pure English; it is a classic “barderly, designed in the English
climate to have an internal threshing floor, a grgnand animal stalls. At
Glenthorne, O’Halloran was most likely already gsihis Ridley stripper to
harvest grain at the time it was built, so it wonklver have been used for hand
threshing, and probably never housed animals eifftes two spaces for housing
coaches were a modification to the standard desgigplace of the animal stalls

(Bell, 1997: 10).
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Figure 4.3.19. An English bank barn. From Brunskill (1981: 160).

Perhaps the fact that it has been known as thetebause’ since the early 2@entury
refers to only one of its functions. Bell seemd#dieve that the reason the building is
known as the coach-house was because, “the twaesgac housing coaches were a
modification to the standard design, in place & émimal stalls” (Bell, 1997: 10). The
‘two spaces’ Bell refers to are those on eithee 9ifithe basement door, in the skillion
(see Figure 4.3.3). Although Bell's interpretatias plausible, there is actually no
evidence for the function of these spaces. Thelddoave housed vehicles, however they
could only have housed small vehicles, since theyoaly about 3.5m long. The upper
level, however, would have been very well suitedhdoising a larger vehicle, such as a
carriage or coach. In addition, the double doorshensouthern side would have opened
out near the road which passed by the coach-honsisceastern side. Once again,
however, it must be remembered that there is neahevidence for where, or if, coaches
were actually housed in this building. It is intgieg that none of the rate assessments for
Lizard Lodge mention a coach-house. A possibleanaiion for this could be that it was

included under ‘out-offices’ or ‘outbuildings’. THatter term only appears in the rate
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assessments once, whereas the former appearsahthém (SRSA: MRG36/4/00000).
This would mean that at least some parts of thelebause were actually used as an

office.

Bell argues that the coach-house was built to théittonal specifications of an English
bank barn. However, prior to the construction & tdoach-house, Lizard Lodge already
had a large barn. This can be seen in the 1851linyant the property which shows the
first stages of the construction of the coach-ho(FHgure 4.3.9). That one of the
structures shown in this drawing is the barn casdsmn in the fact that this structure was
still standing in 1946 when the army recorded ittslist of improvements (National
Archives: Series A877, Iltem CL23893/21). Its piositin the drawing also conforms to
that of the barn shown on the army plan (Figureld)3 Therefore, there would have
been no reason for O’Halloran to build a much senddank barn when he already had a

large barn.

Although the coach-housdoesappear to be similar in design to a vernacularligmg
bank barn, as illustrated in Brunskill (1981) (Figu4.3.18), it does display some
significant differences which argue against iteiptetation as such. As explained above,
the function of the apertures in such English griasds to allow some ventilation, whilst
preventing bulk grain from running out (Bell, 19910). The coach-house, on the other
hand, has (and always has had) a conventional essewindow between the two
apertures on its western side (Figures 5.3.3 a@d%). It is argued here that a window in

this position would have been highly impracticatlamould have significantly hampered
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the building’s function as a granary. This is besgaif the window was open, grain would
fall, or blow, out of it. Also, there are actuantilation holes built into the northern and
southern walls. These are in the form of iron vatdr bricks, with oval holes in them.
There are two each in the northern and southererugmund floor walls and a further

two in the northern wall of the loft.

Perhaps the most compelling evidence that the ebauke was not designed to function
as a granary is the fact that there was an opepléice in the so-called ‘granary’ part of
the building. This is still in existence, althouighhas been covered with cladding along
with the rest of the wall against which it is builthe chimney for this can be seen in
Figure 4.3.19. It can be appreciated that it wdwdgte been inviting disaster to have an
open fire burning in a room full of dry grain. Huermore, like the position of the
window in the opposite wall, the fireplace is iretmiddle of what would have been a
grain storage bay. This would render both the bay the fireplace non-functional.
However, such a featumeould be consistent with its use as an office. In fdet, earliest
rate assessment for this site, dated to Februafy4 1gfter the coach-house’s

construction) mentions offices at Lizard Lodge (3RBIRG36/4/00000).
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Figure 4.3.19. The eastern side of the coach-housbpwing the apertures and the chimney.

The coach-house also has a spacious loft. On thiéhesm wall of the loft, above the
double doors, is a relatively large casement windbigure 4.3.20). Today, it is fitted
with two three-pane shutters which may or may retobginal. Because of its glass-
panels and shutters, this window is more like gpetnormally found in dwellings, not
barns or granaries. Access to the loft was thraagkctangular hole in the south-east
corner of the loft floor. Since there is no evideraf a stairway, it is likely that the loft
was accessed via a ladder. Once again, the locatitme ladder and loft hole is above
what according to Bell would have been one of ttengstorage bays. This would have
been impractical since, if used to store graingasdo the ladder would have been cut

off.
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Figure 4.3.20. The south side of the coach-housbpsving the double doors and loft window.

All of these factors (the existence and positiortt@ upper ground floor window and
fireplace, the loft window and the position of tledder) constitute strong evidence
against the coach-house having been built as aagramstead, they impart definite
dwelling-like qualities to the building. The opareplace is perhaps the most compelling

piece of evidence for this, since it cannot haveveske any other function besides
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providing warmth for people and/or for cooking. §is not to say that the coach-house
was primarily a dwelling. The double doors are ewice that this was not the case. The
logical conclusion is that, like the structure iengral, the upper ground level was
designed to serve a combination of functions. WiwEs seem clear is that the upper
ground level of the coach-house was never desigmdéainction as a granary. Thus, the
guestion remains as to what the function of thdegmhgpertures in its walls was. It has
been suggested that at some time the coach-hougdama provided overnight refuge

for travellers between Victor Harbour and Adelaidéhough there are no historical

sources to support this (Smith, et al, 2005, VA2).

From the lower ground level one can descend atfblstone stairs into what appears to
be a cellar. There is evidence that O’Halloran ubéxias a wine cellar. For example, a

journalist for theThe Observein 1907 wrote of the place:

| went down to the old wine cellar built by this sty pioneer (O’Halloran) and
found marked chalk vintages as far back as 1856.aM@jHalloran, chalk in
hand, placed those hieroglyphics on the main suppo(The Observer,

November 30, 1907).

Remarkably, these markings are still in existefitey take the form of a year followed

by a number in hundreds. It is believed that thesgord grape yields from O’Halloran’s

vineyard (Smith et al, 2005, Vol.4: 18).
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Evidence Supporting the Myth’s Veracity
The following are arguments which support the prtetation that the Lizard Lodge

coach-house was designed to function, in one obies at least, as a defensive structure:

The actual design of the apertures is quite gobeyTare as narrow as possible on the
exterior and substantially wider on the interioheir exterior narrowness would make
the chance of an Aboriginal missile (such as a rspge@omerang or throwing stick)
passing through them and striking a defender venyote. In addition, as Figure 4.3.17
shows, their interior width offers a very reasoeatitld of fire. Their height above the
interior floor level (ca 1.2m) is also well suitéal firing through. Additionally, they are

easily accessible, being located in an open room.

Strategically, the coach-house is well-placed. Agife 4.3.17 shows, the coach-house is
centrally located in relation to the layout of th@mestead’s other buildings. The benefit
of this to the defenders is that no matter wheorirad the homestead complex one is
when danger approaches, the coach-house is nevanvdy. For example, it would allow

defenders an equal chance of gaining the covereotbach-house whether they were in
the dwelling or the stables. This would be an ingoatrfactor were an attack to come by
surprise, since the defenders would have to rageaoh the cover of the coach-house

before being caught in the open.

The placing of the coach-house in its central pmsitand the placing of the apertures,

ensured that the fields of fire offered by the #&pes were uninterrupted by other
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structures (see Figure 4.3.17). This is an impon@mt, since, had the apertures faced

onto a structure, their functionality would havebesomewhat compromised.

It may be significant that the apertures face tast @nd west. This is because there is
evidence to suspect that these were the most ldkedgtions from which an Aboriginal
attack might come. As has been explained above ($eelndigenous Inhabitants’), the
main Aboriginal track between Adelaide and EncouBt&y ran just west of the property,
and there is evidence that there was an Aborigiaaipsite in a valley just to the east of

the property.

It is significant that there is a conventional womd on the western side of the coach-
house, between the two apertures, but no windotherastern side. On the eastern side
the only openings are the two apertures. This desim@y be associated with the
structure’s defensive role. The exterior grouncelesn the eastern side of the coach-
house is very high, coming up to about half a mietmn the base of the apertures on this
side (Figures 5.3.16 & 5.3.19). This would allowattacker to approach right up to the
wall. A conventional window in this side would bardjerous for the defenders, since
attackers could relatively easily approach it arntthee throw missiles or enter the
building through it The western wall of the uppeound level, on the other hand, is high
above ground level (Figure 4.3.3), owing to theudure having been built into the
hillside. On this side it would be far more diffitéor an attacker to approach close to the
wall, making it safe enough to have a conventieviabow here which would have been

required for light, especially if this room funatied as an office.
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The fact that there are apertures on the westel® & addition to the conventional
window, could be interpreted at evidence that tpertares were not designed for
ventilation. If the building needed ventilation,eooould have simply opened the window.
A more persuasive piece of evidence against therpgrgtation of the apertures as
ventilation devices is that there are ventilatioitchs built into the walls of the building.

That fact that the builder had access to these, umedi them, would have made it
unnecessary for him to employ a much more techyichfficult technique to ventilate

the room, namely the construction of angled apestur the walls. In effect, the presence

of ventilation bricks would have rendered the ‘Wiatibn apertures’ superfluous.

The myth associated with this site suggests tfettdach-house was designed as a place
of refuge for O’Halloran’s wife and children in tlewent of an Aboriginal attack (as in
Dolling, 1981: 323) as one of its functions. Thegance of a hearth in the room with the
apertures, as well as a loft, would make this eaatif the coach-house well-adapted for
those taking refuge from an attack. The hearthccbave been used for warmth and for
cooking, and the loft, only accessible via a ladaed trap-door, would provide a good

‘fall-back position’ or safer area for the womerdashildren.

Very close to O’Halloran’s property another builgionce stood which was also believed
to have been fortified against Aboriginal attackisTmyth is documented in the same
publication as the story of the Lizard Lodge coholise, namely Dolling’s (1980he

History of Marion on the Sturtn it she writes:
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This...was the site known as No. 2 Sheep Stationgedviny the South Australian
Company. Here for many years, well into the 193@s0d one of their buildings,
its two-storeyed walls complete with gun-slot Idoges against Aboriginal

attack (Dolling, 1981: 213).

This site abutted the southern boundary of O’Halés property. This myth is highly
significant, because the presence of anotherifedtiiuilding near the coach-house would
indicate that there was a higher than average déahboriginal attack in the area.
Unfortunately no depictions of this building haweeh located. Even the exact location of
the above-mentioned building is unknown. It is vigkgly that all visible trace of it was
destroyed when Main South Road was widened, the beang six lanes wide in this
place. These factors make it impossible to actualyestigate the veracity of the
particular myth that this building was fortified owever, the significant fact remains that

here we have two separate fortified-structure migdesed in the same immediate area.

Evidence Opposing the Myth’s Veracity
The following is a series of points which could beade as evidence against the

interpretation of the Lizard Lodge coach-houseasriy been designed for defence:

For a structure supposedly designed for the proteadf O’Halloran’s family from

Aboriginal attacks, the coach-house was built glate. In fact, appears to have been the

last major structure built at the homestead in dddan’s period of occupation. One
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would have thought that the need for protectiorniresgadboriginal resistance would have
been greatest in the earliest phase of settleménan the traditional owners were forced
off of their land. Indeed, the two recorded incides of Aboriginal aggression towards
settlers in the area both occurred in the earlyith 1840s (SRSA, GRG 24/6/1843/474;
Dolling, 1981: 5 [footnote], 133). The evidence gesgts that the coach-house was built

around 1851-2, some 12 years after O’Halloran §iestled at the site.

In terms of the structure itself, there are no apes on the northern or southern sides of
the building. Assuming that the original doors wacag fitted with apertures, this would
have reduced the structure’s defensive effectiemesdwo ways. First, it means that
attackers who happened to approach the structare the north or south could have
done so unobserved by the defenders. The secoadvdistage is that, although the
defender could have partially opened one of thesloo either the north or south sides to
look and/or fire through, such an action would haesed a much greater threat to the
defender than firing or looking through one of eqeertures. The defender could more
easily be speared and placed himself/herself ltofishe door being forced open, if the

attackers were close by.

There is no record of Aboriginal hostility at Lidatodge. There is not even evidence
that the Aborigines tried to take sheep or any rofiveperty, these being the most
common ‘offences’ committed against settlers at tinge. If Aborigineshad been

troublesome on O’Halloran’s property, one would extp him to have left some

documentary evidence of it in the form of lettgosirnal entries, etc. Of course, it is also
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possible that such evidence once existed but hassmwived, but this is merely
speculation. Therefore, the lack of evidence of dimgct threat to O’Halloran and his
family can be seen to obviate against the needtHer construction of a defensive

structure on the property.

Despite its differences, the coach-house does beare similarities in design to a
traditional English bank barn, as noted by Bellq@:910). The Lizard Lodge coach-
house is similar to the English bank barn illugtdain Figure 4.3.18in that it is built into

the hillside, has apertures on either side of thygeulevel window and has a sloping roof

extending out over small rooms below.

One further piece of evidence to take into consitien is the fear of attacks by gangs of
escaped criminals from Van Diemans Land (Tasmaifizg@se were known at the time as
‘Van Demonians’, highwaymen or bush rangers. Thhless and violent reputation of
these gangs was well known. At around the timeéhefdonstruction of the coach-house,
or just prior to it, in 1850, the police commisstoneported the arrival in the colony of
one such gang. The commissioner was informed thjmhmediately upon landing, one
of them was heard to say with an oath that thengoleould soon ring with their doings”
(SRSA, GRG 24/6/1850/2261). He went on to writd tfighe greatest vigilance on the
part of the police is ever required to keep suctpdmdoes in check” (SRSA, GRG
24/6/1850/2261). Assuming O’Halloran was aware luk tthreat, it would also be

reasonable to suggest that this was an alternadire for the fortification of the coach-
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house. Indeed, the ‘Van Demonian fear seems tio tietter with the time of the coach-

house’s construction than the threat of Aborigatéhck.

Lizard Lodge - Conclusions

After looking at the evidence for, and against, ititerpretation of Lizard Lodge coach-
house as having been built for defence, it is rezgs0 come to a conclusion. With this
particular structure, the associated myth is gepiecific as to the role the structure was to
play in the event of a threat. The coach-house a@syrding to the myth, a place where,
“Major O’Halloran’s wife and children sometimes tooefuge” (Dolling, 1981: 323).
Therefore, in order for the structure to be deefoedtional in its defensive role, it must
be able to provide a place of refuge for a fanvlyptotect them from harm in the event of
an Aboriginal attack. As such, to be worthwhileviduld need to be a safer, more secure
place than any other on the homestead. What it dvoat have to be is a perfectly-
designed fort. The fact that the myth specifies tha building was designed to function
as a place of refuge for a family is significantdase it makes it easier to assess its
functionality in a definite context. Bearing thrsmind, it appears that the evidence, both
archaeological and historical, suggests that tleelediouse at Lizard Lodge was indeed
designed to be able to function as a place of eegginst the threat of Aboriginal attack.
It is not argued that defence was its only intenfiedtion, but merely that it was one of

its functions.

The dwelling-like features of this so-called ‘grayiduilding are not so strange when the

structure is interpreted in this manner. The stm&s$ function as a place of refuge for a
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family would explain the presence of a hearth, Whiould serve to provide warmth or
for cooking in the event of a siege. Also, the,lefith its dwelling-like window, would

provide a very safe fall-back position.

It has been noted above that due to the lack of&snbes on the coach-house’s northern
and southern side, it would be vulnerable and tlon these sides. This may not have
always been the case, though the reason for iris gpeculation. The doors to the room
with the embrasures are later replacements, pgsiidrh the Remount Depot period. It
may never be known, but it is conceivable thatdhginal doors may have been fitted
with embrasures. There is contemporary evidendethia practice was known and used
in South Australia in the form of an original damken from James Brown’s ‘Avenue

Range’ station in the state’s South East (Figuteld).

Whether or not there were ever embrasures on thero and southern sides of the
coach-house is not crucial to the structure’s thib function as a refuge. The building’s
primary function in the event of a threat would édeen to keep the occupants safe from
the weapons of the attackers, until the latter, fire driven away, or help arrived. In
this, the coach-house, and specifically the upgezl| would have been far more suitable

than the dwelling or any of the homestead’s otlreictures.

The embrasures in the structure’'s eastern and muesialls have been shown to be

eminently functional. They would have afforded thefenders an opportunity to have
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some limited (but safe) visibility, as well as alldhem to fire upon attackers on those

sides of the structure without risk of themselvemg hit.

As for the fact that the coach-house was builttiredéy late in the construction phase of

the homestead, there is an explanation for a henglit sense of settler fear in this period,
which may have led to its defensive constructiog. tBe time of the coach-house’s

construction in the 1850s, the situation for theAdlines was becoming more desperate.
Vastly more land had been taken up and fencedyofifie settlers than in the early 1840s,
causing the Aborigines to lose most of their tiadil hunting and gathering grounds. As
Figure 4.3.21 shows, by 1850 (just prior to thestanrction of the coach-house), all of the
Kaurna people’s land had been occupied for pastosel Water sources had been
commandeered by the settlers for use by theirtibodksand much of the local fauna had
been killed. O’Halloran might have feared that lneit desperation the Aborigines who

periodically passed by his property might attenoptatd it for food and supplies.
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Figure 4.3.21. Land in South Australia occupied fopastoral use by 1850. After Camm, et al.

By the 1850s there was also a very real feelinglafm amongst settlers at the growing
numbers of firearms in Aboriginal possession. Tiesling was clearly expressed in a

report from a member of the Southern Division @& golice which was received by the

Colonial Secretary in early 1854 reading:
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...In visiting the encampments of the natives he [thporting police officer]

invariably sees firearms in their possession. Imeaircumstances...there is
reason to fear they have been stolen, but whettemuped in one way or the
other, there is not a tribe without some firearnmgl dhe fact of their being
generally in possession of them is of so much ingpae that | would especially

bring it to the notice of His Excellency (SRSA, GR&6/1854, letter no. 59/54).

The police man then goes on to explain the threafoses to the settlers:

So long as the settlers onhave firearms they may be able to protect their
scattered property and defend their isolated horbas,it in addition to an
immense superiority the natives who may be disp@sedolest them can bring
up an equal if not greater number of firearms, ttenchances of the settlers will
be small and the temptation to the natives to bscimévous much increased

(SRSA, GRG 24/6/1854, letter no. 59/54).

Clearly, then, if O’Halloran either knew about tisisuation, or observed it first hand, it
provides a very reasonable explanation for the tcoctson of his defensive structure at

the same time as the above report was made.

Although it is fairly certain that the coach-hous&mbrasures were never used to fire

through (since if O’Halloran had to resort to sumbasures, such an incident would no

doubt have been recorded), there may well have beessions on which his family felt
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the need to take refuge there. For example, O’lHatlanay have ordered his family into
the coach-house when large groups of Aboriginesguhby the property. Unfortunately,
it will never be known whether O’Halloran’s famigver did seek refuge in this building,
as the myth implies. After all, if such a fact wasorded in primary sources there would

be no controversy surrounding the defensive roka@icoach-house.
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Springvale (Katherine, Northern Territory)

Figure 4.4.0. Extant structures of Springvale Statin. The store is at left, the dwelling at right. Afar
right is one of the large raintrees. The dense treebehind the store mark the sloping bank of the
Katherine River. Facing north east. 2004.

The Site

Springvale was the site of one of Dr William Browrpastoral stations in the Northern
Territory’s ‘Top End’, established in 1879 and mgea by Alfred Giles from 1879-1894
(Northern Territory TimesAugust 2% 1879: 3E). The Springvale site contains two
surviving 19" century structures and their surrounding landscBpese two structures, a
dwelling and a store, both date to Giles’ periodootupation and both have myths

associated with them relating to their defensivestaction.
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The Myth
Springvale is unigue amongst the sites investigaiiétain this project in that it actually
hastwo structures to which a myth of defensive use has ladtached: the dwelling and

the store.

The earliest reference to the myth that the dwgNiras fortified comes in the form of the
memoirs of Harold Giles, Alfred Giles’ son (Giled,, nd.: 10). These memoirs were
written some time before 1960, which is the yeadieel The AgeNewspaper, Monday

1% January, 1981). Of the dwelling, Harold wrote:

Two port holes one on each side of the back dogh®fmain building near the
kitchen were built in case of danger from blackaaking (NT Archives, Giles,

H., nd.: 10).

Harold was raised at Springvale. Having been borb890, as a boy he knew the station
while it was still functioning in its original capgy. In general, Harold’s memoirs appear
very reliable. There are no apparent errors reggrdates or happenings and Harold’'s
personal descriptions of Springvale when it was akimg pastoral station are quite
detailed, showing first-hand knowledge (Giles, #tl,: 12). This is highly significant, as
it constitutes the closest piece of primary eviderfor civilian use of defensive

architecture yet found in relation to any of thesistudied.
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The myth of the fortified dwelling was re-publishedThe AgeNewspaper in 1981The
Age,Monday f' January, 1981). The context in which the mythseappd was an article
about Harold Giles’ memoirs and the fact that lois was planning to donate them to the
Northern Territory Archives Servicdlie Age Monday f' January, 1981). According to

The Age

Harold Giles...grew up in an era when outright gllervarfare between blacks
and white settlers who came to take their land baly just died down. His
birthplace, Springvale Homestead, was built witb pertholes “in case of danger
from blacks attacking”. Giles wrote that travellersuld put up a mosquito net at
night, but sleep somewhere else. Next morning,niétewould often be found

pierced by spear§he AgeNewspaper, MondayUanuary, 1981).

The belief that the dwelling contains defensivehaectural elements was most recently
continued in a conservation plan, which quoted H&sanemoirs regarding the purpose

of the dwelling’s “port holes” (The Architects Siod2000: 5).

An interpretation of the store as a defensive stnecfirst appears in Norritustralia’s
Heritage Sketchboolpublished in 1976 (Norris, 1976). This book coisgs a collection
of drawings of 19 century Australian buildings. Each illustrationascompanied by a
brief history of the site. The sites selected falusion in the book are from all over

Australia and appear to have been chosen purelytheir aesthetic qualities. The
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following is an excerpt from the section on Sprialgv In it, the store is mistakenly

referred to as a barn:

Behind the building [i.e. the dwelling]...stands amugual barn overlooking the
steep river bank. Old-timers recall that bush surding the building was kept
well cleared, right down to the water, and closespection of the building
suggests why. The second floor has a series ofnvgtitiows right around the
walls, facing in all directions; the apertures widen the inside. Holes on the
inside walls indicate that beams once supportelba fust the right height to
allow rifles to be fired through the apertures. Tisght and position of the barn
command excellent views of all approaches. Thecldgtonclusion is that this
was a fortified barn, stocked ready against possioriginal attacks (Norris,

1976: 78).

The above does not at first glance appear to bepatition of a local story about the
store’s defensive function. Rather, it appears tiet author is putting fortther
interpretation of the function of the angled apes$uin its upper walls. However, there is
a hint that she had heard a local story aboutvinigabeen fortified when she writes that,
“Old-timers recall that the bush surrounding thelding was kept well cleared, right
down to the water” (Norris, 1976: 78). The myth abdakes this to mean that the bush
was cleared to keep a clear field of fire from gtere’s embrasures. It is not recorded
which particular ‘old-timers’ recalled this praaichowever. It is possible that someone

who was ten years old in 1890 would be able petgotarecall such a fact (though
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whether the practice of clearing the vegetation ldidwave been continued this late is
open to question), although it is more likely thaid ‘old-timers’ knew of it as a result of
oral history, perhaps related to them by the previgeneration/s, had they lived in the
area in the period. The other possibility it tha told timers’ had seen the photograph

showing this practice of clearing vegetation (Fegdr4.9).

Whatis known, however, is that by 1980 the store was [asjyuknown as the ‘Old Fort’
(e.g. Allom, 1980). This can be seen in a repoth® National Trust of Australia (N.T.
branch) on the building’s potential for restoratibtere it is exclusively referred to as the
‘Old Fort’ or ‘The Fort’ (e.g. Allom, 1980: 1.0).his can either mean that it was actually
believed to have been designed as a fort, or theds so-named purely on account of its

fort-like qualities.

Location

The site of Springvale station lies some 360kmtsafitDarwin, on the north bank of the
Katherine River and west of the town of Katherilbe two remaining structures of the
late 19" century pastoral station currently stand on lamictvis part of a caravan park

owned by Katherine tourist operator Travel North.
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The Dwelling

Figure 4.4.3. The northern side of the dwelling, ZUb.

The dwelling is a low-set, single storey buildin§ tavo linked sections. The larger
section is to the east and consists of a kitcheénan larger rooms. It faces the river, and
has an open verandah on its eastern side, and dwseth verandah to its west. The
smaller section contains two rooms and is attadbethe enclosed western verandah.
Each section of the building has a steeply pitchadle roof. The walls are made of
coarse, squared stone finished with lime plastetheninterior. The floors are concrete
slabs laid on the ground, with a variety of appliedshes. The roof is sheeted with
corrugated asbestos-cement, and corrugated gabchnsteel with machine-sawn
hardwood framing, indicating that the roof is afaeplacement. The ceilings are sheeted

with asbestos-cement, including the western vetanoaf soffit (Allom, 1984: 11).
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On either side of the door that was the back ofdivelling (i.e. the northern side), is a
round aperture, lined with metal and built into gtenework, with a diameter of 25cm. In
recent times the exterior of these two holes has loevered with flywire. There is also a
square aperture built into the stonework abovetare western side of this door, with a
width of approximately 25cm. These features argial to the dwelling since they can
be seen in early depictions (e.g. Figures 5.4.7.&18). These features, particularly the
two round apertures, will be described and disaliseedetail below, since they are

directly associated with the site’s fortificatioryti.

Figure 4.4.4. Interior (left) and exterior (right) of the northern door of the dwelling, showing the
apertures built into the stonework.

The stone walls are in a generally intact and detapcondition, including evidence of

construction technique and early finishes now ceddry recently applied paint. Hewn
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timber plates are visible along the top of the eastvall, which show evidence of the
position and form of original hewn ceiling joists the housings and other joints cut into
them. The kitchen fireplace retains evidence ofugge as an open cooking fireplace,
before the installation of the present enamelled woodstove. Other similar elements of
original fabric, not seen during the present inipa¢c may well survive in the house

(Allom, 1984: 11).

However, substantial alterations have been madleetdollowing elements of the fabric

of the house. Therefore, it is important to segathese from the original fabric. The
sawn hardwood roof framing and modern roof sheetirg recent replacements. The
asbestos-cement ceilings with their cover battestam are modern replacements. The
timber lintels over door and window openings haeerbreplaced with machine-sawn
timber, and the cracked masonry above them repaitdcement mortar. All window

and door frames, doors and window sashes are mo&liégoncrete slab floors appear to
be modern. The eastern verandah roof, on sawn ricarand steel pipe columns, is
modern. The western verandah, with sawn framingtugated galvanized steel roof
sheeting, tongue and groove boarded cladding gndrél enclosure is modern. The stone
flagged verandah floors, laid in cement mortar, ralp be modern, although this could

not be determined with certainty from the inforroatavailable (Allom, 1984: 12).
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Figure 4.4.5. Plan of the dwelling showing originalayout. Scale 1:100.
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The Store

Figure 4.4.6. Photograph of the western side of thetore building.

The store is located to the rear of the dwellingjolv was the standard location for a
store in Australian homestead layouts (Cox andeytat972: 11). Although the current
stone store was a later construction, it was lacatenediately beside the original store.
The original store (made of wood) was probablytbeery early on, perhaps even before

construction of the dwelling was completed.

The store is a small stone walled structure withmautitions or dividing walls,
now [in 1984] unroofed and without timber roof éwdr framing. The raking tops
of the end walls show that the roof was of gablenfoThere are signs that a fire

in the building may have been the cause of itslidéimn, but this cannot be stated
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with certainty. A horizontal line of housings apgaitly built to receive timber
joists in the inside surfaces of the masonry walla height of about 2.5m, and
the existence of lime plaster on the walls belois time, suggests the store was

built with an upper floor attic level (The ArchitscStudio, 2000: 12).

In addition to this, a narrow ledge built into therthern side of the wall on the interior,
level with the top of the housings was probablyigiesd for the floorboards to rest on.
There is also a doorway in the southern side asdinee level with the remains of a pulley
system above it. Documentary evidence in the fofrplmtographs and entries in the
station diaries confirms that the store was gabtded and had a loft (e.g. Giles, 1879-

1894: Entries for 28/5/1885, 18/7/1885).

The Architects Studio’s conservation plan (2008)Jine with the Allom report (1980)
only suggesthat it was designed as a store (The Architeatdi8t 2000: 12). They also
give no credence to the belief that its angled tapes were designed to function as

embrasures, as the following excerpt shows:

The general form and construction of the builditoythe extent that it survives,
including the ventilation slots in the walls ane@ {brojecting timber housing beam
and opening in the upper gable at the southern @ppkars consistent with its
having been designed as a store. Evidence reméiastimber-framed lean-to
extenstion having been attached to the northern @ndhe building (The

Architects Studio, 2000: 12).
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In the above, the apertures are interpreted asglaton slots. The ‘projecting timber

housing beam’ mentioned in the above excerpt isadlgtfor a pulley. Such a feature was
commonly found in stores and warehouses, sincewleeg used to haul large and heavy
loads up to the upper level. That this buildwmgsdesigned as a store is confirmed in the

documentary evidence:

Tuesday 18 December, 1884: ...self & Blacks clearing up thatci ready for

building new store (Giles, 1879-1894: Entry for1151884).

Wednesday 31 December, 1884: Ewart and Winn carting stone few rstore

(Giles, 1879-1894: Entry for 31/12/1884).

Thursday 28 May, 1885: Gilmore getting iron ready for roof stbre. Mason

finished one gable end (Giles, 1879-1894: Entry2&/5/1885).

In a report made to the National Trust of Austrghmrthern Territory) in 1980 the ‘Old

Fort’ was described thus:

The OId Fort building is in fair condition. It hasffered the effects of a fire some
years ago and little evidence of timber roof amdt?] floor remains. Stonework
is generally straight and true, although some pskaabout the gable ends and
over openings has taken place. Some cracking doenor structural movement

is evident. Mortar is soft and lime based, and litde inherent strength. This
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strength may indeed have been further reducedwuoitp the above-mentioned

fire (Allom, 1980: 3.0).

Close inspection of the different mortar types &ndh to the stone work at the
building, reveals that the Old Fort had been medifover the years, or perhaps

even been extended by the addition of an extrd (@&Wem, 1980: 5.1).

Actually, documentary evidence in the form of plygsaphs and the station diaries show
that the building has always been two-storey. B@n®le, the station diary entry for

Saturday 26 June, 1885 read:

Gilmore at flooring loft (Giles, 1879-1894: Entigr 20/6/1885).

When Allom insected the structure in 1980, he nobed some evidence of the original
timber loft floor and roof framing existed in therin of charred stubs set into the stone
walls (Allom, 1980: 5.1). However, when fieldworlag/carried out at this site as part of
this research in 2004, no charred stubs remaindteirioft floor housings. Such stubs
were,however, found in the smaller housings which extaround the walls at about 1m
from the ground. These appear to be evidence béldwhich ran around the walls of the
store’s ground level at this height. Local histarMarion Townsend remarked that such
shelves would have been at just the right heightifperson carrying a heavy load over
his/her shoulder to heave it onto the shelf withbating to lift it (Townsend, pers.

comm., 2004). This ties in with the building’s wesea store.
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Allom (1980: 5.1) suggested that clues as to thgiral roof construction might

reasonably be found at the dwelling building. Hoem\vt would appear that the roof of
this building has been reconstructed relativelently and little evidence of the original
framing remains. Other obvious physical evidencedhat site indicates that a timber
structure (probably a roof) was attached to thédmg along the northern wall. Some
further evidence of the original structure may banfd below present ground level as
footings or paving. Allom also believed that théataemaining physical evidence was
insufficient to enable a full restoration of misgielements in the Old Fort building

(Allom, 1980:5.1).

On the contrary, by studying the material remaiisthe building, as well as the
documentary evidence, ig possible to reconstruct nearly all of the missahgments in

outline. The upper timber joist housings and ledgew the height and construction
method of the loft floor, just as the smaller hogsi around the ground floor give clues
as to the height and construction method of thdveke As for the ground floor the

station diary entry for Saturday'20une 1885 read:

Gash came in having finished raising sufficieagl for paving floor of new

store... (Giles, 1879-1894: Entry for 28/5/1885).
This tells us that the store was originally flooreih flagstones. If any of these remain

they were not visible at the time of investigatitilowever excavation of the floor area

may uncover the remains of this floor. The buildngable roof was originally roofed
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with iron (most probably corrugated) as the statitary entry for Thursday #8May

1885 read:

Gilmore getting iron ready for roof of store. Madarished one gable end (Giles,

1879-1894).

It is also known that the three doors of the s{tine two ground floor ones and the loft

one) were single doors. This can also be seereistttion diaries, for example:

Friday 39 April 1885 — Self finished making door frame foftl of store (Giles,
1879-1894: Entry for 3/4/1885).

Thursday & July 1885 - ...Gilmore hung one door (Giles, 18794:8&ntry for
9/7/1885).

Tuesday 1% July 1885 — Gilmore hung the front door (Giles738894: Entry

for 14/7/1885).
The four housings visible on the exterior of thethern wall did in fact support a

skillion-roofed lean-to made of wood. This can kersin early depictions, although its

construction is not recorded in the station diaries
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Figure 4.4.7. Alfred Giles and family in front of $ringvale Homestead ca 1894. Note the lean-to
attached to the store. Courtesy of the Northern Teitory Library.

Other Cultural Modifications of the Landscape

There are four large rain trees which form a rosghare near the dwelling, an old boab
tree, and a clearing into which the dwelling aratesface. The rain trees are said to have
been planted by Giles’ wife after the birth of thigiur children in 1885, 1888, 1890 and
1893 respectively (Townsend, nd.: The Homesteadt Pa These trees marked the
corners of the homestead’s garden which grew alhnaa of fruit and vegetables
(Forrest, 1985: 45). This garden was renowned dpplying many travellers with fresh
fruit and vegetables and represented a lush casieary travellers (Forrest, 1985: 45).
The garden was irrigated by one of the three fresémwmound springs in the vicinity.
These springs provided an excellent water sourcehi® settlers and no doubt for the

Indigenous people before them. It was after thpsegs that the station was named. The
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old boab tree which grows near the structures ss &kelieved to date from the 19

century and a billabong just south of the homesteaslalso there in Giles’ time.

The clearing is another feature of the landscapewis associated with Springvale in
the 19" century. This area, on the north side of the dagllappears to have always been
kept as a flat open area. This can be seen in888 fhotograph (Figure 4.4.9), the 1894
photograph (Figure 4.4.9nd an 1886-1889 sketch of the homestead viewed the

north (Figure 4.4.11). This area does not appedvai® been cultivated but rather was

kept clear for some other reason.

Site History

Springvale station was established in mid 1879 dytl$ Australian investor, Dr William
Browne (Giles, nd.:136; Forrest, 1985:3). The lapgety that travelled up through the
centre of Australia, from Adelaide to the bankshef Katherine River, was led by Alfred
Giles, appointed by Dr Browne as the manager ofSta¢ion. Alfred Giles was already
somewhat of a veteran of the Northern Territorynfier. He was a member of the party
who surveyed the route of the Adelaide to Darwiageph line in 1870-71 (Giles, 1995
[1926]), as well as having been employed drivimgstock along the route to supply the

telegraph stations with fresh meat and other sep(fsiles, nd).
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Figure 4.4.8. Alfred Giles. From Forrest, 1985: 51.

The story of the expedition to establish Springvsalation as recorded by Giles is
regularly presented as an epic of Australian pignge(e.g. as in Forrest, 1985, and
Townsend, nd.). However, this journey will be diseed in more detail later, as it is most
useful for an insight into the character and bagkgd of Springvale’s manager at the
time of the construction of the structures underestigation here. Springvale was
actually used as a sort of ‘springboard’ from whiBhowne established two other
stations: Delamere in the Victoria River distriodaNewcastle Waters, located about mid

way between Tennant Creek and Katherine (Forr886:139-43).
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The first of the two extant buildings at Springvétebe constructed was the dwelling.
The mason was a man named Fred Stone, who was denemthe expedition (Giles,
nd.). Construction of the dwelling was completedate 1879 (Giles, nd). However, an

entry in the station diary for Thursday™December 1884 reads:

...Hughes pulling down the old thatched hut firstlthmig erected on Springvale.

Afraid it would fall daily (Giles, 1879-1894).

This appears to be the only textual referenceitodarlier dwelling. It is not surprising to

find that Giles and his party would have requirechewhere to live while they built the

stone dwelling and the other necessary infrastracfor the station. However, the

reference above tells us little about the form ho$ tuilding, other than that it was a
“thatched hut”. The answer can be found in a clsely of the early photographic

evidence. There exists a very early photographpoin§vale (dated 1883) which shows

the station viewed from across the Katherine Riwgrposite the homestead (Figure
4.4.9). This photograph is rather unclear, buto#sishow a structure on the site of the
later store. This ties in with another station yliantry dated to Tuesday "“L®ecember

1884 that read:

...Self and Blacks clearing up thatch hut ready foilding new store (Giles,

1879-1894).
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Figure 4.4.9. The earliest known photograph of Sprigvale, dated 1883, taken from across the
Katherine River. The hut can be seen top centre. @otesy of the Northern Territory Library.

This suggests that the structure visible in thet@ip@aph is the old thatched hut, shortly
before its demolition. The structure in the pho&gdr is curious because it appears to
have a tall, conical roof, supported by posts, Wtipread out to serve as a verandah as
well — more akin to an Indonesian or African huartha European one. However, a
photograph of the Newcastle Waters homestead glsadws just such a hut (Figure
4.4.10). This latter photograph shows many detdithe construction of what appears to
be a definite ‘type’ of pioneer dwelling. Furthersearch into this area may determine
whether such huts were common to this region dngyes other regions in Australia, or
whether they were introduced by Giles himself. AswNastle Waters was established

after Springvale, and also under Giles’ supervigieorrest, 1985: 43), it is possible that
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he suggested the design of these huts, though bomak inspired to build them like this

is unknown.

Another early building which survived until at |€ak894 can be seen in the 1883
photograph (Figure 4.4.9 and Figure 4.4.7). Thig bwthe old store which is referred to
regularly in the station diary before and during ttonstruction of the new store. This
structure was made out of wood with a gable rdwd,dastern side of which is visible in
the 1883 photograph. The fact that it appears W heen built early on, and that it was
placed close by the hut, is further evidence thatas a store. The construction of a
secure place to store the station’s provisions ddave been a high priority. Also, by
placing the store close to the dwelling it wouldséadbeen easier to guard, as well as

convenient.

Figure 4.4.10. The hut at Newcastle Waters homesig. Note the similarities in form between it and
the structure visible in Figure 4.4.10. Courtesy ofhe Northern Territory Library.
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Construction of the stone store which stands tadsgmenced in January 1885 and was
completed by July of the same year (Giles, 187%18%tries for 26/1/1885, 16/7/1885).

The mason was a man named George Gash.

Other structures known to have been at Springuatileeatime of the store’s construction
are a cart shed, blacksmith shop, groom’s roomaglest shoeing yard and loosebox. We
know of these structures because they were destrioya fire which swept through the
shed-line in September 1885, shortly after theestoas completed (Giles, 1879-1894:
Entry for 1/9/1885. The station diary for the ddytlee fire tells us that these structures
were part of a line of sheds, the burnt portiowbfch was over 120 feet long. The old
store and blacksmith’s shop were saved and ik@&lithat it is these buildings that can
be seen in the later photograph, next to the newve fFigure 4.4.7). There was also a
men’s hut and beef house across the flat to theé ares limestone rise (Giles, H., nd:
12). There may have been more structures arouedhthmestead, although no

information about them is available.

Springvale was originally established as a sheépcattle station, however cattle were to
prove more successfuNT Times June 1882). Springvale was never a particularly
successful station. The goldfields and Asian marketre not as great as expected and
the sheep did not produce good wool. Furthermobmri§ines and dingoes killed the
sheep and scattered them and in 1881 Redwater Besle out amongst the cattle and

hundreds died (The Architects Studio, 2000: 6).
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Figure 4.4.11. Pencil and ink sketch of Springvale,886-1889. It shows the dwelling and store as well
as other outbuildings now demolished and some of ¢h19" century fence lines. (Courtesy of the
National Library of Australia).

Dr Browne advertised Springvale for sale in Augl887. No interest was shown in the
property and the station was all but abandoned eliewGiles and his family continued

to live there until 1896 (The Architects Studio0RO7).

The Indigenous Inhabitants

According to Horton’s map of Aboriginal languagegps, Springvale is located on the
traditional lands of the Jawoyn people (Horton, @00'he other main language group
near Springvale are the Wardaman (Horton, 2000primal people were still living
traditionally in the Springvale region well intoett2G" century. For example, there is a
photograph showing what may be a hunting party bbrAginal people on the road to

Springvale ca 1925 (Figure 4.4.12). By ‘traditidgalit is meant that they were living in
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much the same way as they were prior to the aravahe Europeans, for example,

leading a hunter-gatherer lifestyle and livingriaditional social units.

Figure 4.4.12. Aborigines on the road to Springvalea 1925. Courtesy of the Northern Territory
Library.

The station diary shows that groups of local Abioeg were used at Springvale as
manual labourers (Giles, 1879-1894: Entry for 2B884). These workers were evidently
paid in flour, tobacco and matches (Giles, 187941 &ntry for 25/12/1886). The kind of

jobs they were given included cutting down tredsaring vegetation, charcoal burning
and generally cleaning up (Giles, 1879-1894: Estite 26/1/1884, 28/3/1884, 2/5/1884,

9/7/1884).

Giles also had in his employ several personal mglpblackboys’ or ‘working boys’, as
they were commonly known at the time). Sometimeséhpeople are named, although

only by acquired European names and they are mibsh simply referred to as
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‘blackboy’ (e.g. Giles, 1879-1894: Entry for 6/384. These were usually not ‘boys’ as
such at all, but young men. By referring to them'tasys’, however, the Europeans
reinforced their perceived superiority over therheBctivities of the Aboriginal workers

at Springvale can also be seen in the station diaryexchange for giving up their

traditional ways, they were entrusted with a hoase probably paid better than the
casual Aboriginal labourers. However their paymeas still probably in the form of

goods rather than cash, as it was unusual for Abohiginal workers to be paid in cash
at this time (Rowse, 1998: 170-2). The Springvaborginal workers were engaged as
guides, couriers, and stockmen. One of their mostncon jobs seems to have been
finding and bringing in stray beasts, such as lwas®l cattle (Giles,1879-1894: Entry for

21/1/1884).

This kind of Aboriginal/settler interaction appeans the surface to have been perfectly
peaceful, however there is evidence that this vedsacessarily the case. For example,
the Northern Territory Times and Gazet{®T Time} reported an attack on two
European men on the Daly River by a tribe who wstgposed to be civilised"NT
Times June 10, 1882: 2D). The same paper also carrisgp@t of the spearing of a
white station worker at another station by “..ackfallow, well known about the
station...” NT Times November 4, 1882: 4A). Furthermore, it was marew in the
report that the Aborigines around the station lzely been causing a deal of trouble for
the settlers, in the form of thefts and destructdérproperty NT Times November 4,
1882: 4A). A further reason for the settlers tardist apparently friendly Aborigines in

this case was provided by the fact that it waswpresl that one of the Aboriginal station
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workers intentionally led the white man into an astb NT Times November 4, 1882:
4A). What this kind of information tells us is thdtere must have been a constant
underlying racial tension and mistrust betweenlessttand the Aboriginal people who
lived and worked on their stations. There is atyualimary evidence that Alfred Giles
and his wife did not trust the Aborigines around tlomestead. This comes in the form
of Harold Giles’ memoirs, wherein he stated that ‘mother and father never allowed

the blacks to nurse or carry we children” (Giles, itl: 12).

Although not necessarily directed against the Eeaog, there is primary evidence of
Aborigines using violence around Springvale. Foaregle, Harold Giles recalled the

following incidents from the late 1890s:

...there was a police boy named Mahdi from Kathefadice on walk-a-bout.

Mahdi used to carry a long sharp butchers knifefev days after one of the
Springvale garden boys was missing, none of thekblket on as to where he was,
then a day or so later my father was driving actbsesRiver at the Springvale
Crossing on the way to Katherine and he smelt somgtvery strong and he saw
something washed up against the drift wood — it thadbody of the garden boy —
then the blacks told my father it was Mahdi who kékéd him. Later there was

another black boy killed and finally another nanfeammy was badly cut across

the upper leg (Giles, H., nd: 16).
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With such ruthless characters about it is easyntterstand why Giles would have felt
concerned about the safety of his family, let albiseproperty. Furthermore, the fact that
Mahdi, was a ‘police boy’ would have been even naiseoncerting. One of Giles’ own
outstation managers, William Sidney Scott, was ahbd and killed by Aborigines. This
incident was related by Harold Giles in his memdin®ugh he did not give a date for it

(Giles, H., nd: 13).

Alfred Giles himself had a significant history obrdlict with Northern Territory
Aboriginal people, arising from his expeditionstd survey the overland telegraph line
in 1870-71, and during his expeditions to supplgsth stations and to establish
Springvale. His own writings record no less thansgéparate frontier conflict incidences
involving the Aborigines (e.g. Giles, 1926[19959-60, 97-99, 110-112, 144-145, 150,
and Giles, nd: 22, 24, 35-36, 39, 106). This iggaicant number by any standards and
it follows that such experiences would have hagyaificant influence on the way Giles
regarded the Aborigines in general. That he constHéhem ‘treacherous’ and ‘savage’

can often be seen in his writings (E.g. Giles, 19285]: 98; Giles, nd: 36).

Prior to the construction of the store (as well afterwards), Aborigines raided
Springvale’s stock and horses.The First Pastoral Settlement in the Northern Tery,

Giles wrote:

In September 1880 a Heifer was brought in with doda spear sticking in

her back. This was the first instance of cattleasipg we had noticed but
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we had many cases subsequently as well as horseirgpéGiles, nd.:

155).

A study of The Northern Territory Times and Gaze(MdT Time$ a newspaper Giles
would have read, shows the conflict that was oaegnvhile construction was underway
at the homestead, as well as settler’s attitudeartts the Aborigines. The first reported
attack upon a settler after the establishment oin§pale (mid 1879) appeared in the
above newspaper on March 20, 1880. This was thedibf a Mr Holmes, who lived in a
remote location at Collett’s Creek, and had no meagirs besides a few Chinese who had
a market garden nearby. Holmes was struck dowrsirrrise attack as he stepped out of
his house T Times March 20, 1880: 2C). No suggestion was madeHermotive for
the attack, the subsequent inquest returning theéioteof “Murdered by natives, names
unknown” NT Times March 20, 1880: 2C). Significantly, however, ttiwelling was
described as not having “the appearance of havaam ansacked™T Times March
20, 1880: 2C). This suggets that the motive foratiack was not plunder, and therefore
probably something deeper. It may have been segxuoaitivated, since for four or five
weeks prior to his being killed, Holmes had hadang Aboriginal woman or girl in his

house, as well as her mother and a by TimesMarch 20, 1880: 2C).

In June 1882, thBIT Timescarried three articles on frontier conflict. Onasaa report of
an attack on a dray escorted by four Chinese byrigioes, on the road between
Katherine and Darwin. All four were believed to haveen killed T Times June 10,

1882: 2E). Beside this was an article entitled “Tla¢e Outrage by Blacks’NT Times
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June 10, 1882: 2C-D). This alarmist article questt whether it was safe for either
Europeans or Chinese to travel over the countrggddT TimesJune 10, 1882: 2C). It
also decried the current legal system with regaodé&boriginal offenders and called
instead for what would in effect be punitive massachy “giving them a lesson which
they will not be likely to forget” NT Times June 10, 1882: 2D). The third article
reported that a party of Aborigines had surrounaléduse occupied by a Mrs Clarke and
her little boy at Collett’'s Creek. Mrs Clarke, hovee, managed to drive the Aborigines

away by firing at them with a revolvelT TimesJune 10, 1882: 2E).

The following month’s paper carried the reportod killing of settler Duncan Campbell
and his two Queensland Aboriginal helpers, whikytivere searching for lost cattleT{
Times July 22, 1882: 3A). Beside the above report, ¢batents of a telegram was
published which came from the station at which Caafipyorked, though dating to after
the killing. It reported that a drover’s party hdmken attacked by a large mob and were
compelled to open fire on themNT Times July 22, 1882: 3A). The drovers had great
difficulty repulsing the Aboriginal attackers, whwere described as being “very
determined” NT TimesJuly 22, 1882: 3A). A Queensland Aboriginal nanRadldy was
later found in possession of Campbell’'s rifle andught before Giles himself at
Springvale, since he was the local Justice of #&c®. Giles had Paddy committed for

trial for wilful murder NT TimesSeptember 16, 1882: 3D).

In July of the following year an incident occurradhich must have made Giles feel

particularly insecure. Two Queensland Aborigines tire employ of a waggoner
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absconded with two horses not far from Springvalee tracks of the horses were seen
going in the direction of the Katherine River (upehich Springvale is located) before
disappearing into an almost impassable goNJE Times July 7, 1883: 2E). This would
have been Nitmiluk (Katherine) Gorge, east of Spraie. One of the Aborigines was an
ex-Queensland trooper and consequently “more dange¢han a hundred ‘myalls’ ['wild
Aborigines’]” (NT Times July 7, 1883: 2E). Both were also well armdd (Times July

7, 1883: 2E).

Less than two months later, in September 1883NheTimesreported an Aboriginal
night attack on a camp of waggoners working for tekegraph department. One
European man was killed before the Aborigines vaeneen away by gunfireNT Times
September 1, 1883: 3C & September 8, 1883: 3E)e@gain, the object of the attack
was evidently something more than plunder, as theri§ines did not attempt to interfere

with the wagonsNT TimesSeptember 8, 1883: 3E).

The above evidence shows that Aboriginal versutese&iolence was ever-present in the
Northern Territory during Giles’ time there, andwla erupt with a spontaneity that must
have made settlers feel quite insecure and untgusti the local Aboriginal people. The

news of such events, as reported in the newspamelpresumably passed on via the
‘bush telegraph’ (news passed on by word of moutbyld be seen to have provided
evidence for any settler to take extra precautigvith Giles, however, one has the added

motive of personal experience of conflict with #igorigines.
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Results and Interpretation

Fieldwork was carried out at Springvale between2®€ and 27" October 2004. As with
all of the sites investigated within this projettiis involved recording all of the physical
attributes of the site which may have had an imidgeon the functionality of the store
and dwelling as defensive structures. This recgrdiras accomplished by means of
photographs, measured drawings consisting of pEeigjons and elevations, as well as
some surveying in order to construct a site plas.identified in the myths associated
with this site, the main defensive architecturdfilaites are the angled apertures built
into the upper level walls of the store and the twond apertures built into the
stonework either side of the rear (northern) ddahe dwelling. The myths suggest that
these were embrasures for firing at Aboriginal cd¢as through (E.g. Norris, 1976: 78
and The Architects Studio, 2000: 5). Therefore & here is to test the defensive
functionality of these features as embrasures.réigut.13 shows the arcs of fire offered

by these architectural features, were they to bd as embrasures.

261



Figure 4.4.13. Diagram showing the arcs of fire offfed by the embrasures at Springvale, shaded
grey. The darker grey areas indicate ground coveredy embrasures of both the store and the
dwelling. The approximate area covered by the prd885 conflagration shed-line is shown by the
diagonally-hatched area. Note that this does nohsw areas of ‘dead ground'.

Store

Katherine River

Figure 4.4.14. Diagram showing fire-coverage of riar bank from the store's eastern apertures
(indicated by the dashed line). The relative heightf a person is shown by the figure to the right of
the store.

The myth states that the river banks near the himaeswere kept well clear of
vegetation, the implication of the myth being ttfas was to provide a clear field of fire
(e.g. in Norris, 1976: 78). There is also document&vidence that this was done, for

example this can be clearly seen in Figure 4.41% Bpringvale Station Diary also
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records the practice of clearing the river banka. €&xample the entry for January'26

1884 read:

Sent Niggers to the other side of the river todmwn the trees (Giles, 1879-1894:

Entry for 26/1/1884).

It was therefore necessary to determine to whanexhe store’s apertures were able to
command the river bankigure 4.4.14 shows the ability of the store’s eastpertures

to do this.

Another factor which affects the ability of the #sdyapertures to function as embrasures
is whether they are accessible to the firer. Ireothords, the defender needs to be able to
(relatively) comfortably place the barrel of theerm through the embrasure and aim at
the attacker/s. An analysis of the dimensions efrttom inside the loft can determine to
what extent this is the case. All but two of thdt'$o embrasures are located
approximately .65 metres from the floor, makingntheonveniently positioned for firing

through in a kneeling position.

Evidence Supporting the Myth’s Veracity

Giles’ writings show that, although he did not suffa disproportionate amount of
paranoia about Aboriginal attack, he did fostetrarng distrust of Aborigines in general
and was well aware that they were capable of vaderh they decided to attack the

settlers. This attitude was evidently borne outisf significant experience of conflict
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with Northern Territory Aborigines, both prior tstablishing Springvale and during his

time there.

Alfred Giles was intimately familiar with the ovarld telegraph stations and those
associated with them. This was a result of hisdaeen part of the expedition which
surveyed the route and having spent years supplyiam with stock. As a result he
would have been aware of the fact that some ofstlaéions were fortified against
Aboriginal attack (such as Barrow Creékuftralian SketcheMarch 21, 1874: 2223nd
Alice Springs [Mulvaney, 1989: 119]), as well ag tarchitectural techniques used to

accomplish this.

There is documentary evidence that the banks afiteebeside the homestead were kept
clear of vegetation, possibly to prevent attackens approaching too close under cover
and to provide a clear field of fire (e.g. Gile8,79-1894: Entry for 26/1/1884) as well as
photographic evidence (Figure 4.4.9). The stora&esn embrasures, on account of their
height, very effectively cover the river bank arltbwa no ‘dead ground’ which could
afford cover to an attacker. This is an importamihpbecause were this not the case the

functionality of these embrasures would be seripasmpromised.

The store’s embrasures, in being angled outwardhemterior (Figure 4.4.1%)ffer two
advantages. Firstly, they allow far greater trawgrsof the firearm through the
embrasure, thereby allowing fire to be brought ¢éarbon a much greater area than had

they been right-angled apertures. The second aalyaris that in being angled on the
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interior it is easier for the firer to guide therited of the firearm through the embrasure.
This would become important if there were not efodgfenders in the store’s loft to
occupy all of the embrasures and the defenders tbadonstantly switch to other
embrasures to fire upon different targets. Thisld@lso become important if a defender
was armed with a muzzle loader which would havbaavithdrawn from the embrasure
after every shot for reloading. In an attack sitratvhere the defender is in a hurry and
under duress, this would make firing through thebexrsures much easier and more
efficient than if they were angled on the extemornot at all. The store’s apertures,
facing in all directions and being elevated andleshgwould also have represented an
improvement over those of the dwelling, which hade of the above qualities. Had the
order of construction of the dwelling and storerbé®e other way around, it would not
have made as much sense that the embrasuresabeiliere less well-designed than the

earlier ones.
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Figure 4.4.15. Plan of upper level of store showingpsition and shape of apertures.

In an informal discussion between the author and Wownsend, the latter gave her
opinion of the site’s supposed defensive featugbe. suggested that the round apertures
either side of the dwelling door may have beerpfacing dairy products in. The breeze,
she reasoned, when blowing through them would hayged keep them cool. However,
assuming this would work, one would have thougktduld have been more practical to
make the holes square bottomed so that objects situh them better. As for the angled
apertures in the store’s upper walls, Mrs Townséetieved they were ventilation
apertures. These were necessary, she believed)deetize intense heat experienced in
that part of the country could induce stores of ttagpontaneously combust (Townsend,

pers. comm., 2004). There is, however, no evidématehay was ever stored in the loft.
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The elevation of the store’s embrasures from thside ground level also adds to their
defensive functionality. They are on average 3.2reseabove the ground. This places
them well above the reach of the attackers and dvinalve made it impossible for
attackers to stab their spears through. Their g@valso allows them to command more
terrain, as it eliminates more ‘dead ground’ thaula have been possible had they been
at ground level. It was this feature of their comstion which allows them to so
effectively cover the river banks on both sidestla# river. A third advantage of the
embrasures being elevated at this height is th#t@morthern side they would have been
able to fire over the roofs of the several buildinghich comprised the shed-line.
Furthermore, if attackers were able to make ithi® $tore and succeed in forcing their
way in, the defenders would still be in a relatwshfe and commanding position because
they would be on the floor above. The only way wuid have been a ladder or stairway
which led through a hole in the loft floor. This ynaven have had a hatch attached,
although there is no evidence for it. Such a pasitwould allow the defenders to
maintain the advantage and would have been muclrdasdefend than had they been

on the ground floor.

The main disadvantage of the store’s embrasurte ifact that they do not seem to have
been angled enough to cover all of the ground sading the building. The result of this
is that there are ‘blindspots’ extending out frdra torners of the store. These blindspots
provide relatively safe avenues of approach foatacker. However, this would only be
a problem for the defender if the attackers hadrganowledge of this or came this way

purely by chance. It is, however, highly unlikehat the former would occur within the
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context of an Aboriginal raid, as it would not bédent from the attacker’'s point of
view. The main blindspots extend from the northte@sand south-eastern sides. The
other two blindspots would very effectively be coma by fire from the dwelling’s
embrasures — as long as there was someone usimgalBe. This design flaw can most
probably be ascribed to the inexperience of thddbuiin defensive architectural
techniques — it should not be interpreted as ewgelé¢hat the building was not functional

as a defensive structure.

There is actually a precedent for a stone fortiiéake building in the form of the Old

Rainworth Stone Store (built in 1862), near Sprimgsin Queensland. This store’s
defensive design and functionality is not disputaidce it is listed in the Queensland
Heritage Register and is deemed significant pdrdgause it “[illustrates] the principal

characteristics of a fortified store on a remotd early pastoral property” (Queensland
Heritage Register, 18/10/2006). Like the Spring\sit@e, this store also has a loft with
embrasures. Also like the Springvale store, itsnpry function was as a defendable

storehouse (Queensland Heritage Register, 18/16)200

If the apertures in the walls of the store weredhly embrasure-like features of the site,
the interpretation of them as purely ventilatiorerpres would hold more weight.
However, this interpretation is thrown into questloy the fact that the unusual holes on
either side of the dwelling’'s rear door are obvigusot for ventilation holes; instead,
there is documentary evidence that they were baikmbrasures (Giles, H., nd: 10). The

existence of these earlier possible embrasurdwidwelling therefore can be seen to add

268



weight to the interpretation of the apertures ia ftore as also being embrasures. The
dwelling’s apertures, like those in the store, la@ated at a comfortable height to fire
through. Here, however, they are positioned at ighhewhich suggests they were
intended for the defender to fire through themha standing position. The dwelling’s
embrasures appear to be less well-designed thae thfathe store, because they are not
angled, but are instead simply round holes buiti the stonework. However, in terms of
the amount of ground able to be covered by firenftbese embrasures, the fact that they
are not angled is partially made up for by the thet they are wider than those of the
store. A possible reason they were designed thys arad not like those of the store, may
be that the dwelling was built by a different magorthe store. It may be that it was
considered simpler to build around the frameworvpted by the iron lining of the
embrasures than to angle the stonework. It is notvk what this iron lining was made

from, i.e. whether it was adapted from an existiag or purpose-made.

A third factor which supports the interpretationtioé dwelling’s embrasures as defensive
is the fact that there are no windows on this (tloethern) side of the building.

Considering that the sun passes from east to wedtthe dwelling is orientated north-

south, it does not seem likely that the lack ofdaws on this side were for protection
from the sun. The only entrance is the door, wh&lprotected by the embrasures on
either side of it. This seems to represent a deltbeattempt, paralleled in the other
dwellings investigated above (Mount Benson and @éQiutstation), to make the rear of

the dwelling secure from attack.
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The functionality of the dwelling’'s embrasures dsnbetter appreciated when they are
viewed within the context of their likely tacticable. It can be seen in the 1883
photograph, the 1886-1889 sketch of Springvale toed 1894 photograph, that the
northern (i.e. rear) side of the dwelling facedooatclearing. Judging by what is known
of the length of the original shed line and theidémns, the approximate size of this
clearing can be reconstructed. It seems to hawndgt at least 100 metres northwards
from the rear of the dwelling and to have been ado80 metres wide, giving a total area
of 6000 square metres. The pictorial evidence igfdrea suggests that it was never used
for agriculture or grazing but was reserved as p@ncspace. The 1883 photograph is
particularly significant here because it shows thatclearing was there at that time and
thus predates the construction of the store. Imsemost likely that the clearing was
created at the same time as the construction ofdtteling, soon after settlement at

Springvale.

The fact that the dwelling’s only two embrasuresefato this clearing is not likely to be
mere coincidence. The siting of the homestead atbjgh, steep river bank, and with a
clearing to the rear actually ties in remarkablylwth the ‘ideal’ defensive siting of an
Australian homestead, as described by Cox and Ww(d®&&2: 9) and Taylor (1988: 24).
The purpose of the clearing appears to have begnotode a clear field of vision and
fire from the dwelling’s embrasures. This would phefo prevent attackers from
approaching too closely to the rear of the dwellingler cover. As the results of the
Weapons of the Frontier experiment testify, armétth Wwreechloading rifles it would be

possible for only a few defenders to put up a witigeand deadly accurate fire at 100
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metres (the approximate length of the clearing)hdugh these rifles were accurate well
over 100 metres, their increased rate of fire méaattthe defenders could afford to allow
the attackers to approach this close to the dvgelind still be confident of driving them

back. Furthermore, in an 1870 booklet tit@derland Telegraph — Port Augusta to Port
Darwin. Instructions to Overseers of Worf&non., 1870), there is a section describing
“Mode of Attack by Natives”, which actually advisétat camping places be chosen that
“[command] the surrounding country, and where,day 100 yards [91m] around, there
is no shelter for a black to creep unseen towandscamp” (Anon, 1870: 43). Giles,

having worked for the overland telegraph, wouldéneaad this booklet, and perhaps bore
its advice in mind when designing his homesteadclviciomplies remarkably well with

it.

Three early depictions (Figures 5.4.7, 5.4.9 & Blj.of Springvale show a paling fence
running in front of the rear of the dwelling. THisnce was constructed early in the
history of the site, as it can be seen in the 1j88&ograph. The fence appears to have
bordered the southern side of the clearing. InN1B#&6-89 sketch of the homestead it can
be seen that the fence was not so high as to ab#oerfield of fire from the dwelling’s
embrasures which are clearly higher than the fembe. fence could easily have been
built a little higher, thus rendering the embrasuneuch less functional. However, the
fact that it wasn’t can be taken as evidence thafénce was intentionally built at a level
which would still permit the defenders to fire ovethrough the embrasures. Although
this fence may have been built mainly to demardataestic space from work space, in

being paling (unlike all of the other visible fenliees which are post and rail) it may
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have also served as a defensive structure, asuldwimnth impede attackers, as well as

provide an Aboriginal weapon proof barricade far tlefenders.

Finally, there is primary evidence that at least thwelling was believed to have been
built for defence in the form of the memoirs of &il son Harold. Harold Giles stated
that, “[tjwo port holes one each side of the badiordof the main building near the
kitchen were built in case of danger from blackacking” (Giles, H., nd.: 10). Harold

Giles’ memoirs were written some time before 196@,although not coming from the
pen of the builder himself, the fact that it confreen the builder’s son, who was brought

up on the station, lends great weight to the claim.

Evidence Opposing the Myth’s Veracity
The following are argumeneggainstthe interpretation of the architectural featurethe

store and dwelling as embrasures:

A mentioned above, the two upper apertures in tbee’s northern gable are non-
functional, as they are too high and there is nidesce that there was ever a way to
reach them in the form of a platform, etc. Thesedrexactly the same form as the lower
apertures. Therefore it can be argued that if tHfeatures were designed purely as
embrasures there would have been no point in Imgjltivo of them in an impractical

position.
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The store’s apertures, although definitely anglae, not angled enough to cover the
entire perimeter of the store. As a consequenagjtdialf of the terrain outside the store
is not able to be defended from them. This canakiert as evidence that these features

were either poorly designed, or not designed tation as embrasures.

There is supporting evidence for inward-splayingerfyres in Australian rural
outbuildings in Roxburgh and Baglin (1978). Thisskashows heavily angled apertures
in three Australian barns in New South Wales whack described as ventilation slots
(e.g. Roxburgh & Baglin, 1978: 108-109, 110-1116-157). The first example is at
Browley station in Moss Vale. Roxburgh and Bagleliéved this barn to have been built
some time between 1830-1860 (1978: 108-109). Thenskis at Caoura station, near
Marulan. This barn was thought to have been bathsafter 1836 (Roxburgh & Baglin,
1978: 110-111). The third example, at Segenhoestah Sconce, appears to have been

built some time between 1825-1838 (Roxburgh & Badlo78: 156-157).

Although the station’s stock and horses were spedteere is no evidence that the
homestead itself was ever attacked. This couldakent as evidence that there was never

a real threat of the homestead being attackedtharsdno need to fortify it.

Springvale - Conclusions
What is immediately noticeable about the abovéeésfact that the arguments supporting
the myth greatly outnumber those against this pnetation. However, although this is

important, it is not enough to constitute the sideiding factor as to whether the myths
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are true. This is because some arguments hold mverght than others. Overall,
however, it appears most likely that both the stanel the dwellingwere built for

defence, the reasoning for which is explained below

To begin with, the fact that Alfred Giles, the diter of all operations at Springvale, had
a considerable history of conflict with Aboriginaople throughout his career provides a
prime motive for his feeling the need to build defiwely. He had experienced
Aboriginal attacks first hand on numerous occasiassvell as having known others who
had. This may have made him especially aware ofcthestant possibility that the

Aborigines might at any time attempt to attack hbenestead.

If Giles believed there was a real possibility tAlbrigines might attack the homestead,
he must have had an idea asvtoy this might occur. The question of why Giles thaugh
that Aborigines might want to attack the homesteadhes on an important issue in our
understanding of frontier conflict: the attitudestioee European colonists to Aboriginal
resistance. Although Giles regarded the Aboriginessavage and treacherous, some
colonists of the time did understand that the Adiogs saw the Europeans as invaders of
their land. This can be seen in the words of thee@ument Resident of the Northern

Territory. In 1889 he wrote:

Some blacks are beginning to understand the conditunder which the white

man holds the country. A station manager informesl Some time ago that an

“old man” blackfellow said to him, “I say boss, wéfellow stay here too long
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with him bullocky. Now time whitefellow take him Bocky and clear out. This

fellow country him blackfellow country (McLaren, nd276).

He then went on to raise the question:

Does the land inalienably belong to the aborigimgso have from time

immemorial occupied it and exercised tribal righter it? | have been compelled
by my official position and circumstances to giverisus attention to this
guestion. | have had long conferences with InspeEtmelsche and Mr E.O.
Robinson other than whom there are no two gentleorenthe north coast of
Australia who know so much about the blacks, thabits and rules of life. For
the most part | think the Malthusian principle ageking down the population is

only practised to a limited extent (McLaren, n@77).

Judging by what is known of Alfred Giles from higitmgs, he appears to have been
quite an intelligent and worldly man and, as sugtgbably did appreciate that the
Aborigines considered the Europeans as intrudetsvamted them out. He had known of
(as well as experienced) enough instances wher@libegines had attacked Europeans
with no apparent intention other than to kill theBvidence of this can be seen in his
manuscripts, as well as the Springvale Diary (@itgs, nd: 39,50 and Giles, 1879-1894:
Entry for 1/10/1889). However, he also experiennadherous Aboriginal raids which

were obviously for procuring meat by the spearihmdividual beasts, an example being
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the heifer that was brought in to Springvale witlspear still lodged in its body (i.e.

Giles, nd: 155).

Therefore, on account of his significant historycohflict with Aboriginal people, Alfred
Giles appears to have had ample motives for fangf\Springvale. The fact that there is
no evidence that the homestead was ever attackedaiany attempts were ever made
on the lives of any of the employees at Springwdes not, it is argued, bear much
weight as evidence that the myths are unfoundedt Tere was a sufficient threat (at
least in the builder's mind, if not in reality) aftack is all that would be required for the
site to be fortified. The number of spearings afhbpeople and stock that came to Giles’
notice during his time at Springvale shows that Adinal people were still living
traditionally and actively resisting the coloniahvaders throughout this time.
Furthermore, the large number of documented spg=anhpeople in the northern region
of the Northern Territory in general in the late7/08 and 1880s shows that the threat of

violence was very real (Appendix 2).

The store was arguably the most important buildinghe station, as it held most of the
food and supplies required to survive in the ismlaposition Springvale occupied.
Therefore it was extremely important that its cotdébe protected. However the fact that
the store held these valuable commodities, espedialr and meat, would also have
made it a veritable treasure trove to the Aborigoeople, many of whom may have been
finding it increasingly difficult to obtain traddanal food due to the European takeover of

much of the land and water sources and the subseduep in native flora and fauna.
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There is evidence for this in the fact that the Adines were regularly spearing
Springvale’s livestock. That Aborigines tended #rget storerooms particularly is
mentioned by Henry Reynolds in the form of an 1888%cription of the typical process
of squatter settlement (Reynolds, 1987: 158). Byively defending the store, the

Europeans could both defend themselves and pithicontents of the store.

As for the functionality of the structures (i.eetldwelling and the store), they were
actually quite well designed to carry out theiratefive roles. Admittedly there are some
faults in the design of the structures in termsheir defensive architectural features, but
as always when dealing with civilian-built sites,must be borne in mind that their

builders were not trained military architects.

Finally, the possibility that the stores aperturese built to serve a dual purpose must be
considered quite likely. That is, that they werdtlfor a non-defensive purpose such as
perhaps providing ventilation to the lofis well asfor use as embrasures in the event of
an attack upon the homestead. This is entirelygibel and would explain why two of
the apertures are inaccessible (i.e. a clue tlegt were designed for ventilation) yet the

rest are all angled, placed in all four walls, asdessible.

Discussion
At the sites in this chapter, the historical-araiagical analysis method described in
Chapter Three was put to use. From the fieldworta dallected at the sites, their

defensive functionality was able to be tested wwithiset analytical framework which was
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applied to all of the sites equally. When combinedh an investigation of the
documentary material, these two lines of evidenaewcombined to determine the
likelihood that these structures were built foredefe as at least one of their intended
functions. Furthermore, through validating the nsyfissociated with them, it is possible
to view these sites in the greater context of thiele within the national identity

construction process, and still more widely, in tbatext of settler societies globally.
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